@ MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED
Million St B 2 2% B 5 IR 2 &)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability )
(REEHEAMK L2 FRAA])

E 2 15 R
= Stock Code B&21X5% : 8093

ANNUAL REPORT




CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Million Stars Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors of Million Stars
Holdings Limited (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), |
am pleased to present the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 (“FY2019") to our
shareholders and investors.

China’s internet advertising industry has witnessed over ten years’
rapid development, and is entering a relatively slow growth cycle.
The growth rate of the internet advertising market size indicates a
trend of gradual decline year by year. In terms of advertising
carriers, mobile advertising has become the mainstream of the
internet advertising market, and currently accounts for about 70%
of the mobile advertising market share. In terms of the advertising
types, traffic advertising has become the new area of growth for
the advertising industry. Integrating with channels including social
media, search engine, and video media, traffic advertising focuses
on users’ interaction experiences during the promotion process
and results in more precise promotion effect and increasingly
growing market share. In terms of market distribution, large
internet platforms have built their own platforms leveraging on
the traffic advantage, and continued to encroach market share
and increase advertising revenue. Medium and small advertising
agency companies’ promotion costs increase with their profitability
being continuously compressed.

In terms of policy supervision, the state’s supervision on internet
advertising media and advertising operators has become
increasingly strict since 2018. In February 2018, the State
Administration for Industry and Commerce issued the Notice on
Conducting the Special Governance of Internet Advertising. In
April 2018, the Cyberspace Administration of China interviewed
related responsible persons of Kuaishou () and Huoshan Video
Clip (A 1L /)N 48 88) under Jinri Toutiao (% H 38 &), demanding
them to make complete rectifications. In April 2018, the State
Administration of Radio, Film and Television ordered Jinri Toutiao
to shut down its Neihan Duanzi (K EZF) app. To comply with
supervision requirements, internet advertising operators have to
increase human resources allocation, resulting in the increasing
cost of operation. From March 2018 to December 2018, the state
suspended internet game number licensing, restricting the
development of the internet advertising industry to some extent.
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During the year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$270,729,000, representing a decrease of approximately
48.6% as compared to the same period of last year. Due to the
restriction of the macro environment, the Group’s internet
advertising business of this year saw a decrease as compared to
the same period of last year, and the Group suspended the mobile
payment technical support business. During the year, the Group
recorded a loss after tax of approximately HK$36,606,000.

| wish to take this opportunity to express our gratitude for the
support from our business partners, investors and customers. |
would also like to thank our dedicated management and staff for
their contributions to the Group.

Zhu Yongjun
Chairman

25 September 2019

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

FR - AEEZWASRB 270,729,000 7T -
BEFRIEMAD48.6% c W FEHNEE
RESR AFESEMNEBBESESEE
FREHD  URAEEEERE) SRR
THEREBR FAAEBESRSREEERY
36,606,000 7T °

RAERELEE  ROBHESEBEBH  KE
EREPZXF o RATEU RGBT E 2
BEENMBTHAKEEL ZER

FE
KEBE

—F-NFHAHA=-THH

—E-NEEERE - EEERARAR 05



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWR DN

INTRODUCTION

The Group is an integrated group specialising in (i) internet
advertising agency services; and (ii) mobile payment technical
support services during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Internet Advertising Agency Services

The Group provides internet advertising agency services through its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Beijing Dongrun Hudong Technology
Company Limited* (1t 7 38 & 8) £ £ B BR 2 7]) and Horgos
Dongrun Network Technology Company Limited* (2 #3 52 H7 52 &
PEERHE B R A 7)) (collectively, referred as “Dongrun Network”)
in the PRC. Dongrun Network provides internet advertising agency
services covering streaming advertising, search engine advertising,
and applied marketing and navigation advertising. After nearly two
years' efforts, Dongrun Network has currently become the exclusive
advertising agent of All Football APP* (£ Bk 75 ) gaming industry,
core advertising agent of Cheetah Mobile, Yidian Zixun* (—Zh& &)
and WiFi Master Key, and advertising agent of Jinri Toutiao* (% H
SE1&). Dongrun Network, whose customers are principally engaged
in the internet industry, covers industries such as e-commerce,
online tourism, game, video, dating and automobiles. Its major
customers include well-known enterprises such as Tencent, Jinri
Toutiao and Dianping.com (X 32 B4 &F). During the year, Dongrun
Network achieved an operating income of approximately HK$216
million.

During the year, the Group developed its overseas internet
advertising market through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Million
Stars Internet Media Limited (“MSIM”). Through a global
mainstream online platform, namely Facebook, MSIM provides
customers with access to global advertising, including big data
support, integrated marketing solutions, local language support
and account stabilisation services. During the year, MSIM recorded
an operating income of approximately HK$52 million.

Mobile Payment Technical Support Services

Due to the introduction of new laws and regulations in the PRC,
the government has implemented more stringent management of
mobile payment. In order to avoid possible operational risks, the
Group decided to temporarily suspend the mobile payment
technical support services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Leather Business

The Group was engaged in manufacturing and sales of leather
products through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Odella
International Limited, Perline Company Limited (iHEEZRE B R A
A]) and Foshan Nanhai Shengli Leather Garment Co. Ltd.* (LU
TEEEREBEKAR AT (the “Odella Group”). Due to adverse
impact of international trade environment, net profit margin of
leather business has gradually decreased in recent years. The
Group decided to terminate leather business and disposed of the
Odella Group at the consideration of HK$10 million in February
2019 and the transaction has been completed. During the year,
the sales revenue from leather products amounted to
approximately HK$37 million.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will seize the opportunities in the
booming internet advertising sector to step up investments in
internet advertising, seeking to tap on new customers, businesses
and revenue streams for delivering better returns to its
shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

During the year, the revenue of the Group recorded a decrease of
approximately 48% from approximately HK$526 million for the
year ended 30 June 2018 (“FY 2018") to approximately HK$271
million for the year ended 30 June 2019 (“FY 2019").

During FY 2019, the Group recorded a loss after tax of
approximately HK$37 million, represented a decrease of
approximately HK$242 million as compared with the profit after
tax of approximately HK$205 million in FY 2018. This is mainly
attributable to narrow profit margin of the provision of internet
advertising agent services, a decrease in net profit arising from the
mobile payment technical support services and the impairment
losses on trade and other receivables.

Gross Profit

Gross profit margin decreased from 49% in FY2018 to 15% in
FY2019 mainly attributable to a lower gross profit of provision of
internet advertising agency services in Mainland China during the
current year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWR DN

Other Income, Gains/(Losses)

Other income and gains/(losses), mainly represented sundry
income incidental to our business, principally including interest
income, net exchange differences.

Other income and other gains/(losses), amounted to net gains of
HK$3 million in FY 2019 compared to net gains HK$1 million in
FY 2018. The increase was mainly due to the interest income
received during the year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised sales and
marketing expenses. Selling and distribution expenses decreased
from approximately HK$6 million in FY 2018 to approximately
HK$3 million in FY 2019, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$3 million mainly due to the fall in the revenue.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised payroll expenses, rent
and rates and other office administrative expenses. Administrative
expenses increased from approximately HK$35 million in FY 2018
to approximately HK$40 million in FY 2019.

The higher administrative expenses in FY 2019 were mainly
attributable to an increase in office administrative expenses for
internet advertising agency services.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased from HK$7,000 in FY 2018, to
HK$626,000 in FY 2019, primarily due to the interest expenses
incurred by interest-bearing bank borrowings and a third party
loan.

Income tax expense

Income tax represents Hong Kong profits tax at 16.5% for the
Company'’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and PRC Enterprise Income Tax
at 25% for the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC. Certain
subsidiaries of the Company, which we incorporated in the Horgos
Economic Development Zone and engaged in industries particularly
encouraged by the local government, are entitled to a preferential tax
treatment of exemption from enterprise income tax before the end
of 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Position, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management
policy. In order to achieve better cost control and minimise the
costs of funds, the Group'’s treasury activities are centralised and
cash is generally deposited with banks in Hong Kong and
Mainland China.

The Group has maintained its funds at a sound and healthy
financial resource level during the year under review. As at 30
June 2019, included in net current assets were bank and cash
balances (including pledged bank deposits) totalling approximately
HK$23 million (2018: HK$114 million), the decrease of which was
mainly due to repayment of amount due to a shareholder. Total
debt to equity ratio of the Group express as a percentage of
interest bearing borrowings over total equity was approximately
6.25% as at 30 June 2019 (30 June 2018: 0.19%).

As at 30 June 2019, the Group obtained banking borrowings
amounting to HK$8 million (30 June 2018: Nil). The Group has
interest-bearing bank loans which carry interest, ranging from
5.48% to 11.34% per annum in FY 2019 (30 June 2018: Nil).

As at 30 June 2019, the Group has also borrowed unsecured
interest-free loans from third parties in amount of HK$2 million (30
June 2018: Nil) and interest-bearing loan from third party of HK$5
million which carries interest of 3% per annum in FY 2019 (30 June
2018: Nil).

There was no seasonality as to the Group's borrowing
requirements and no committed borrowing facilities.

The Company has adequate internal financial resource to support
the development of the Group in the coming year.

Charge Over Assets of the Group
As at 30 June 2019, the Group's banking facilities were supported

by pledged bank deposits of the Group of approximately HK$4
million (2018: HK$1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DT

Financial Management Policies

The Group in its ordinary course of business is exposed to market
risks such as foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. The
Group’s risk management strategy aims to minimise the adverse
effects of these risks on its financial performance.

Cash is generally deposited with banks in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, which are denominated mostly in United States
dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Hong Kong dollars are
pegged to United States dollars under the current policy of the
Government of Hong Kong.

As the Group's trading transactions, monetary assets and liabilities
in Mainland China are denominated mainly in Renminbi, and
trading transactions, monetary assets and liabilities in Hong Kong
and overseas are denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollars (being
the Group's operating and reporting currencies) and United States
dollars (to which Hong Kong dollars was pegged), the impact of
foreign exchange exposure to the Group was minimal and the
changes in foreign exchange rates did not have a significant
adverse effect on normal operations during the reporting year.

With the current interest rates staying at relatively low levels, the
Group has not entered into any interest rate hedging contract or
any other interest rate related derivative financial instrument
(2018: Nil). However, the Group continues to monitor its related
interest rate exposure closely.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 June 2019, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitment (2018: Nil) and contingent liability (2018: Nil).

Risk management and uncertainties

The Board believes that risk management is essential to the
Group's efficient and effective operation. The Group’s
management assists the Board in periodic evaluation of principal
risks exposed to the Group and estimation made for the
uncertainties; and participates in formulating appropriate risk
management and internal control measures for the purpose of
on-going monitoring of such risks and assessing the
appropriateness of such estimations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 18 February 2019, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with the purchaser, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to sell and the purchaser agreed to acquire the
entire interests in Odella International Limited at a total
consideration of HK$10,000,000. The disposal was completed.

During FY 2019, the Group did not have any material acquisition.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had a workforce of 109 employees
(2018: 188). Total staff costs for FY 2019 were approximately
HK$34 million, as compared to staff cost of HK$34 million in FY
2018.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
formulated by the Remuneration Committee (as defined below)
with reference to the duties, responsibilities, experience and
competence of individual employees. The same policy also applies
to the Directors. In addition to salaries and discretionary bonuses
relating to the performance of the Group, employee benefits
included pension scheme contributions. The emoluments of the
Directors are reviewed annually by the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”).

As incentives and rewards for their contributions to the Group,
the employees of the Group and all the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) may also be granted share
options by the Company from time to time pursuant to the share
option scheme of the Company adopted on 28 January 2015.

The Group provides various training to its employees to enhance
their technical skills and knowledge relevant to the employees’
responsibilities. The Group also provides its employees with quality
control standards and work safety standards training to enhance
their safety awareness.

During the year under review, the Group did not experience any
strikes, work stoppages or significant labour disputes which
affected its operations in the past and it did not experience any
significant difficulties in recruiting and retaining qualified staff.
The Directors consider that the Group has maintained good
working relationship with its employees.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGSREEAESHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Zhu Yongjun
Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Zhu Yongjun (“Mr. Zhu"), aged 39, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 24 February 2017, the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer (“CEO") of
the Company on 17 March 2017. He stepped down as the CEO
on 5 September 2017. Mr. Zhu also serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhu is experienced in investment management. Mr. Zhu has
been the founder, chairman and chief executive officer of
Shanghai Financial Investment Information Services Company
Limited* (_ E/8 =12 & 515 BRI AR A A]) since 2014 and was
the founder of Taizhou Sifang Network Company Limited* (Z= /M
P05 #8485 AR AA)) in 2005. He was the general manager of the
network department of China Telecommunications Taizhou
Industrial Corporation* (7 Bl & {5 Z= )1l & % A 7)) from 2004 to
2005. Mr. Zhu holds a bachelor’s degree in economic information
management from Jiangnan University.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhu is beneficially
interested in 38,398,786 shares of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Wang Fei
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Ms. Wang Fei (“Ms. Wang"”), aged 46, was appointed as an
executive Director and the CEO of the Company on 5 September
2017. Ms. Wang is also the chairman of corporate governance
committee of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company.

Ms. Wang has over 20 years of experience in the software
development and business marketing fields. From January 2003 to
April 2017, Ms. Wang served as the senior manager of Baidu
Union Development, general manager at Baidu Games Business
Unit (Web Game), general manager at Baidu Web Navigation
Business Unit, CEO of Baidu Games and general manager of Baidu
Mobile App Distribution Business Unit. She was engaged in
various projects including key accounts sales model development,
software union and internet bar union development, the general
management of Hao123 Web Navigation business, integration of
games business and formulation of business strategies, as well as
vigorous expansion of overseas markets. During her employment
in Baidu Mobile App Distribution Business Unit, she was
responsible for developing mobile assistant app stores and
personal cloud business. Before joining Baidu, Ms. Wang was
employed by Sparkice E-Commerce Group as senior business
manager, served as a sales department manager of eNet.com.cn,
worked at China Ship Research and Development Academy as
software engineer during the period from 1994 to 2002.

Ms. Wang graduated from Harbin Engineering University with a
bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering in 1994,

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Wang is beneficially
interested in 40,000,000 shares of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGSREEAESHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Tian Yuan
Executive Director

Ms. Tian Yuan (“Ms. Tian”), aged 45, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 28 July 2017. Ms. Tian also
serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Tian obtained her bachelor’s degree in economics from the
University of California, Los Angeles and her master of science in
financial engineering degree from the University of Michigan Ann
Arbor. She was one of the earliest recruited innovative talents in
the finance area by the “The Thousand Talents Plan”* ([ & #%& T
A&tEl ), which was held by the government of Jilin Province.

Ms. Tian previously worked for US I.B. Fund Management Limited,
Societe Generale Securities Hong Kong, Ltd, the Investment
Management Department of Legend Holdings Ltd and other
financial enterprises. She is experienced in technical analysis of
foreign exchange, foreign exchange trading, derivatives
development, trading and sales, financial product investment, the
establishment and operation of investment funds, private equity,
capital market investment, financing etc.

Ms. Tian is now the general manager of Shanghai Angell Asset
Management Company Limited, the deputy general manager of
Jilin Province Investment Group Company Limited* (& #& & &
£E B BRAR]) and the director and deputy general manager of
Haitong Jihe Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (/&
HEAREREESEEBMR AR She is also the member of
the Investment Committee of Jilin Province Modern Agriculture
and New Industrial Investment Fund Limited Company* (& # &
RREBEMFTEEZEIEEERE S EFR A A and Jilin Province
National New Energy Venture Investment Fund (Limited
Partnership)* (EMEBEXIEREIZREESEREE(BRE
$2)#Z &), and the director of the Investment Committee of Jilin

Province Ageing Service Industry Fund (Limited Partnership)* (&

MEBERBEXZESABREX(BRER)).

Ms. Tian is a director of both United Conquer Limited and
Shanghai Hutong Investments Centre (Limited Partnership)* ( /&
B MR & OL(B B & %)), substantial shareholders of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Chen Ce
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Chen Ce (“Mr. Chen”), aged 34, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 January
2018. He is now serving as the chairman of audit committee, and
a member of remuneration committee, nomination committee
and corporate governance committee of the Company.

Mr. Chen has been a senior investment manager of Haitong
Capital Investment Co., Ltd. since August 2011 and is mainly
responsible for pre-investment research, post-investment
management and coordination between relevant parties of
investment projects. Before joining Haitong Capital Investment
Co., Ltd., Mr. Chen worked as an analyst of the Investment Center
of the State Administration of Foreign Exchange from July 2010 to
May 2011 and was mainly responsible for calculation and
statistical work relating to daily foreign exchange positions as well
as monthly performance analysis and attribution. Prior to this, Mr.
Chen successively worked for Shanghai Lixin Ruisi Information
Management Co., Ltd. and Tebon Securities Co., Ltd. in various
positions during the period from June 2008 to December 2009.

Mr. Chen obtained a master’'s degree in management from the
School of Management of Fudan University in June 2010 and a
bachelor’'s degree in management from the School of
Management of Xiamen University in June 2007. Mr. Chen is also
a certified public accountant, a non-practising member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a CFA
charterholder. Mr. Chen is a qualified securities practitioner and
funds practitioner.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGSREEAESHE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Ji Fang
Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Ji Fang (“Ms. Ji"”), aged 45, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 January
2019. She is now serving as the chairman of remuneration
committee, and a member of audit committee, nomination
committee and corporate governance committee of the Company.

Ms. Ji has over 20 years of experience in senior corporate
management, industrial investment and capital operations. She
specializes in large enterprise cost control, multinational supply
chain management, sales operation management, risk assessment,
investment decision-making, and project management, etc. Ms. Ji
is serving as the chief executive officer of Guangzhou Parallel Line
Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (BMFITHRIEEEBERA
A]). Ms. Ji held senior management positions at several famous
companies in the past, including chief executive officer of Sichuan
Bangminrong Investment Guarantee Consulting Co., Ltd.* (F8)I]
BARBKREEREMANBR AT, vice chairlady of Zhejiang
Zhengrui Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.* (T EIn B EIKEGR
2 |]); assistant to the president of Otis Elevator Company North
Asia Pacific Headquarters and key clients manager of Otis Elevator
Company in China region.

Ms. Ji holds an undergraduate degree in economic management
from the Southwest Minzu University and a master’s degree in
business administration from Edinburgh Business School, Heriot-
Watt University in the United Kingdom. She has completed a
postgraduate course in political economics at Sichuan University.
She is familiar with the investment environment and policies of
the People’s Republic of China. Ms. Ji has a deep understanding
of the project incubation and corporate mergers and acquisition
practice in areas such as emerging manufacturing, new materials
and the Internet. She was invited to be the guest lecturer of the
business administration program for president course of Shanghai
Jiao Tong University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Gao Shuo
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Shuo (“Mr. Gao”), aged 36, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 6
November 2017. He is now serving as the chairman of nomination
committee, and a member of audit committee, remuneration
committee and corporate governance committee of the Company.

Mr. Gao has 12 years of experience in investment management.
He is currently a partner of Hanfor Capital Limited* (Z& (4t 50)
B K E® AR A F) and participated in the RAZER equity
investment project. From April 2015 to May 2016, Mr. Gao
successively served as vice-president, managing director of risk
compliance centre and chairman of strategy committee of 7Z
Capital* (FRHEE 7). From April 2011 to April 2015, he served as
board secretary cum general manager of capital operations centre
of Zhongze Holdings* (2325 & ). From June 2007 to March
2011, he successively served as division head and department
head of project investment management of Goldman Sachs, and
participated in the YK merger and restructuring project. From
2005 to March 2007, he was the investment risk specialist of Bank
of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ. He is a certified public accountant of
China, financial analyst of Japan Finance Federation* ( B 7~ 4 @i B
4 €) and appraiser of Higashi-Nippon Bank Federation* (% H7x
iR 17 Bt & ). Mr. Gao holds a master's degree from Waseda
University in Japan, majoring in law and finance.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGSREEAESHE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
He Hongbing
Chief Financial Officer

He Hongbing (“Mr. He"), aged 46, has been appointed as the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 21 August 2017. He
oversees and coordinates the operation of the Group’s finance
department including all financial, accounting and taxation
functions and financing activities of the Group. Mr. He also serves
as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. He graduated with a bachelor degree in science from Geology
Department of Peking University in 1996 and a master degree of
Civil and Commercial Law from the Law School of Yantai
University in 2003.

Mr. He is a CFA Charter holder and a member of The Hong Kong
Society of Financial Analysts since September 2009. He has held
Chinese lawyer qualification since May 1999 and Chinese Certified
Public Accountant qualification since March 2003, and has over
15 years working experience in financial management, corporate
finance, investor relations and merger and acquisition projects.

From July 1996 to August 2000, Mr. He was the assistant engineer
of Technical Centre, Dongfeng Motor Corporation. From February
2003 to January 2004, he served as the financial manager of
Shenzhen B&K Electronic Co., Ltd. From February 2004 to July
2007, he was the finance manager, deputy general manager of
the Investor Relation Division of China Gas Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 384). From August 2007 to December 2007, he was the
investment analyst of Singapore UOB Kay Hian Research Pte Ltd.
From January 2008 to June 2008, he served as the deputy general
manager of International Business Division of China Gas Holdings
Limited. From July 2008 to November 2014, he worked as the
senior project manager, assistant president and vice president of
Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 702). From
December 2014 to December 2015, he worked as the vice
president of Linuo Group Co., Ltd. From December 2015 to
August 2017, he was the chief financial officer of Sound Global
Limited (Stock Code: 967).

* for identification only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for FY2019 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
FY2019 (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during FY2019 and a
discussion on the Group's future business development, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided
in the Management Discussion and Analysis.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance during
FY2019 using key financial performance indicators is provided in
the Financial Review.

Discussion on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, relationships with its key stakeholders and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group will be provided in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report which will be
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange no later than three months after the publication of this
Annual Report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 65 respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEWME

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, as at 30 June
2019, the contributed surplus and share premium accounts are
distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which any dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Movements in the distributable reserves of the Company during
the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2019, sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 56.14% of the Group's total sales
for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 37.44%.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for 53.78% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and purchases from the Group’s largest
supplier included therein amounted to 30.48%.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any shareholders (which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
during the year under review are disclosed in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed below, these
related party transactions either (i) do not constitute connected or
continuing connected transactions or (ii) fall under the definition
of a connected or continuing connected transaction, but are
exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DONATIONS

Charitable donation of HK$1,000 was made by the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2019 (2018: HK$1,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the year
and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. ZHU Yongjun
Ms. WANG Fei
Ms. TIAN Yuan

Non-executive Director:
Mr. CHONG Ka Yee (Resigned on 4 June 2019)
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Ce

Mr. GAO Shuo

Ms. JI Fang (Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Ms. CHEN Feng (Resigned on 1 January 2019)

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”), Mr. Zhu Yongjun, Ms. Tian Yuan, Ms. Wang Fei
and Ms. Ji Fang will retire from the Board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, disclosed as follows, there is no
change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules since the
Company’s last published interim report.

(@) Changes in Directors’ Relationship with Substantial
Shareholder

On 12 July 2019, 89,597,169 shares of the Company were
sold by Power View Group Limited to United Conquer
Limited at consideration of HK$1.00 and 38,398,786 shares
of the Company were sold by Power View Group Limited to
Mr. Zhu Yongjun at consideration of HK$1.00.
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Power View Group Limited is no longer a substantial
shareholder of the Company of which Mr. Zhu Yongjun and
Ms. Tian Yuan are the directors.
(b) Change in Directors’ Emoluments
Given below is the latest information regarding the annual
emoluments, calculated on an annualised basis for the
financial year ended 30 June 2019, of a Director for whom

there was a change in the amount of his emoluments since
the Company’s last published interim report.

Director

Zhu Yongjun (Note) KREE (M)

Note: Mr. Zhu Yongjun and the Company entered into a supplemental
service agreement on 1 January 2019 whereby (i) Mr. Zhu Yongjun's
monthly salary decreased from HK$200,000 to HK$100,000 with
effect from 1 January 2019, (ii) his monthly salary decreased from
HK$100,000 to HK$50,000 with effect from 1 February 2019 and (iii)
he was no longer entitled to a fixed bonus, equivalent to three-month
salaries, starting from 1 January 2019 (including the fixed bonus for
the service of year 2018).

Subsequent to the financial year ended 30 June 2019, Mr.
Zhu Yongjun and the Company entered into another
supplemental service agreement whereby Mr. Zhu Yongjun's
salary is revised from HK$50,000 per month to HK$1 per
annum, starting from 1 October 2019.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 30 June 2019, none of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Company’s business to which any subsidiary of the
Company or the ultimate holding company of the Company or
any subsidiary of such ultimate holding company was a party and
in which a Director of the Company or any entities connected
with a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year or
at any time during that financial year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during FY2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

There was in existence during FY2019 a management services
agreement dated 2 May 2017 with CS Legend Corporate Services
Limited (“CS Legend”), whereby CS Legend agrees to provide
company secretarial services to the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on
28 January 2015, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by
the Company during the financial year or subsisted at the end of
the financial year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of his/her duty or supposed duty in his/her office.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to cover
the Directors and officers of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 January 2015, the Company adopted the Share Option
Scheme and the major terms of the Share Option Scheme were
summarized as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 28
January 2015 by shareholder’s written resolution.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives
and rewards for their contribution to the Group. It became
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date
on which the Share Option Scheme was adopted.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may at
its absolute discretion grant options to the following persons
(the “Eligible Participants”):

(@) any employees (including any executive Directors) of
the Group or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity"”);

(b)  any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(©) any supplier of goods or services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(f)  any shareholder of the Group or any Invested Entity or
any holder of any securities issued by the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group,

and, for the purposes of this Share Option Scheme, the offer

may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more
Eligible Participants.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c)

(d)

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 40,000,000 shares, representing 10% of
the total issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
annual report. The maximum number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of
the Company in issue, unless approved by the shareholders
of the Company in the manner as stipulated in the Share
Option Scheme.

For any grant of options to a substantial shareholder of the
Company or an independent non-executive Director or any
of their respective close associates, the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
must not:

(a) exceed 0.1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue; and

(b) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

unless such grant of options approved by the shareholders
of the Company in a general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(e)

U]

(9)

26

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date on which the offer
for the grant of options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. No
minimum period for which the option must be held before it
can be exercised is specified in the Share Option Scheme.

The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Share Option Scheme is such price as
determined by the Board of the Company at the time of the
grant of the options, but in any case the subscription price
shall not be lower than the higher of:

o the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date on which the options are
offered, which must be a business day;

J the price being the average closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the options;
and

e  the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
date of offer.

Payment on acceptance of option
A non-refundable sum of HK$1.00 is required to be paid by
each grantee upon acceptance of the granted option. An

option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of offer for the grant of option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(h) Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from its adoption date (i.e. 28 January 2015). The
Share Option Scheme will terminate or expire (as the case
may be) on the earlier (i) the approval of the shareholders in
a general meeting, and (ii) at the close of business on the
day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of the
adoption date (Scheme Period).

As at the date of this report, no share option has been granted,
expired, lapsed, exercised or cancelled.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is based on
their merit, qualifications and competence. The Company has
adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive to Directors and
eligible employees, details of the Share Option Scheme is set out
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended and approved
by the Remuneration Committee and the Board respectively,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group during FY2019 are set out in note
14 and note 13 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the Laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this Annual Report, there was sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"))
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules, required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Interests in Shares of the Company

Name of Director

Capacity

ESHR 5%

Mr. Zhu Yongjun Interest of controlled corporation

KREE 4L XL E R

Ms. Wang Fei Beneficial owner

Lt BB A
Notes:

1. As at 30 June 2019, the Company had 400,000,000 Shares in issue.

2. As at 30 June 2019, Power View Group Limited (“PVG"”) had 100 shares in
issue. PVG held 127,995,955 Shares, representing 32.00% of the total
issued shares of the Company. PVG was 70% owned by United Conquer
Limited (“UCL") and 30% owned by Mr. Zhu Yongjun.

Abbreviation: “L" stands for long position.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

R-ZFB-NAFRA=1TH REARAEEMR
o BRARREFHEZITHABI - THIA

As at 30 June 2019, so far as is known to the Directors of the
Company, persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares  +AZARA FIRM SBERMND T HEERIEZHF &
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be  HI & &HIE XV EBE 2 R 3D 2 & ARARD
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the &) N&E#ES P 58 sl E 50 AR A BIIRIE 555 & B
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which  E{&fflZ 336 18B T FE Z 5 MR #E =k
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company A& :

under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

>

Approximate
Percentage of
Issued Share

Interests in Capital of
Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares the Company Note
ERRFE
BITREH
LS R 2 2 BREAL M
7Road Holding Limited Beneficial owner 54,000,000 (L) 13.50%
FLREERERRA ¥ 7PN
Power View Group Limited Beneficial owner 127,995,955 (L) 32.00%
BREERRAT BREAA
United Conquer Limited Interest of controlled corporation 127,995,955 (L) 32.00% 2
RS
Shanghai Hutong Investments Centre Beneficial owner 50,000,000 (L) 12.50%
(Limited Partnership)* EalEAA
("SHIC") Interest of controlled corporation 127,995,955 (L) 32.00% 3
PERARERO(ARER) BB RS
([ L&)
BOC-HFT-BOC-Overseas Investment manager 50,000,000 (L) 12.50% 4
No.1 QDI Segregated Account
("BOC Account”)
BE R — P EIRITEINM 5 QDI RELR
BEERE([PRER:E])
Shanghai Angell Asset Management Interest of controlled corporation 177,995,955 (L) 4450% 5
Company Limited*
(“Shanghai Angell”)
LBREEEERARRDA RS
([EBRE])
Zhongtian Urban Development Group Interest of controlled corporation 177,995,955 (L) 4450% 6
Shanghai Equity Investment Fund
Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
("Zhongtian Partnership”)
RRBEREE LERERERES XELEER
ABEX(ERAK)
(ThRaBRE])
Shanghai Tiger Platinum Equity Interest of controlled corporation 177,995,955 (1) 4450% 7
Investment Fund Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
(“Shanghai Tiger Platinum”)
PBRAREREESER R R
aREE(ERAR)
(I E&EeAl)
Guiyang Jinrong Konggu Company Interest of controlled corporation 177,995,955 (L) 4450% 8
Limited* ("Guiyang") o
EReRERARAR(TERE]) R LEER
—E-NFEERE - BEERARAF 29
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Name of Shareholders

Capacity

BRREH a6

Zhongtian Urban Development
Group Limited*
("Zhongtian Group”)

R EBRGAERAA
([hREE])

Jin Shigi Guoji Holdings Company
Limited* ("Jin Shigi”)

Interest of controlled corporation

X EEER

Interest of controlled corporation

S EEFERR R AR REEE R
([&ttiE])
Notes:

1. As at 30 June 2019, the Company had 400,000,000 Shares in issue.

2. UCL's deemed shareholdings stated above were held by virtue of its 70%
shareholding interests in PVG.

3. SHIC's deemed shareholdings stated above were held by virtue of its 100%
shareholding interests in UCL.

4. BOC Account’s deemed shareholdings stated above were held as a trustee of
a discretionary trust of which SHIC was the founder.

5. Shanghai Angell’s deemed shareholdings stated above were held by virtue of
its 1% capital commitment in SHIC’s contribution through general
partnership.

6. Zhongtian Partnership’s deemed shareholdings stated above were held by
virtue of its 49.5% capital commitment in SHIC's contribution with Shanghai
Angell through partnership.

7, Shanghai Tiger Platinum’s deemed shareholdings stated above were held by

virtue of its approximately 0.05% capital commitment in Zhongtian
Partnership’s contribution through general partnership.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

8. Guiyang’'s deemed shareholdings stated above were held by virtue of its
80% capital commitment in Shanghai Tiger Platinum’s contribution through
limited partnership.

9. Zhongtian Group’s deemed shareholdings stated above were held by virtue
of its 100% shareholding interests in Guiyang.

10.  Jin Shigi's deemed shareholdings stated above were held by virtue of its
44.87% shareholding interests in Zhongtian Group.

Abbreviation: “L” stands for long position

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme”
and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, at no time
during the year was the Company, any of its holdings companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or the chief executives of the Company or
any of their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For FY2019, the Directors are not aware of any business or interest
of the Directors, the controlling Shareholders and their respective
associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) that compete
or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have with
the Group.
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EEWME

AUDITORS

Following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB") as auditors of the Company on 24 April 2017, RSM Hong
Kong (“RSM"), whose Chinese practice name was changed from
i EE(EB)GTMEBT to BREGFTMMEHFT on 22
November 2018, was appointed as the auditors of the Company
by the shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 31 May 2017 to fill in the vacancy following the
resignation of HLB.

The Board confirmed that there was no disagreement between
HLB and the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors
of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for FY2019 have been
audited by RSM who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting for the re-appointment of
RSM as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhu Yongjun
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 September 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group's corporate governance framework is based on two
main beliefs:

o the Group is well-committed to maintain good corporate
governance practices and procedures; and

o the Group recognises the need to adopt practices that
improve itself continuously for a quality management.

Accordingly, the Group is committed to maintain high standards
of corporate governance with a view to safeguarding the interests
of its shareholders. To accomplish this, the Company has adopted
the principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Codes”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. During the
year ended 30 June 2019, the Group is in compliance with the CG
Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors (“Securities Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Each of the Directors gave confirmation that he/she was in
compliance with the Securities Code during the year ended 30
June 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Key features of our Board

Independence

The Company emphasises on independence and objectivity of the
Board and all committees. With the services of three executive

Directors and three INEDs, the Board would have a prudential
oversight on the Company’s businesses and developments.

Audit
Board Committee
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEEg@)
Key features of our Board (continued) EESNERESE(E)
Commitment FRIE

The Company attaches great importance to the level of Directors’ AN AGIIFEERESFSHAANTI NEFSRYHRYE
commitment to the Company and the Board. Each Director has 2/ - R EEEGLHEETSe N (BLEE®
actively participated in the Board’s, committees’ and shareholders’ @z EIREAE  HEEELHER - SEED
meetings with a high attendance rate. The Directors have devoted X7t REFRINR AR G R EYER KA A E
sufficient time to the Company and closely monitored the 7 -

Company’s businesses.

Attendance Rate at Meetings
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEEg@)
Attendance at Meetings HESEE

The following table shows Directors’ attendance at Board’'s TXRBERZESNEE_Z—AFA=1H
meetings, committees’ meetings and general meetings held inthe |FEBABIEERNRIT 7 EES €3 (BLZES
financial year ended 30 June 2019: ERMARERE 2HFBEBER

Meetings Attended/Held
e/ BTed
CORPORATE

REMUNERATION AUDIT  NOMINATION  GOVERNANCE GENERAL

BOARD COMMITTEE COMMITTEE COMMITTEE COMMITTEE MEETING
Egg yHzEE ERZEE REZEE® (EERZEE RRAE
(Total: 6) (Total: 3) (Total: 4) (Total: 2) (Total: 1) (Total: 1)

(45 6%) : (45 :4R) (85 :2R) (5 1R)

Executive Directors

HiTES

Mr. Zhu Yongjun — Chairman 6/6 NATER NATER NATE R NATER 1/1
REERE—IR

Ms. Wang Fei — Chief Executive Officer 6/6 NANER NAER NATER 11 1/1
FRRL — TR

Ms. Tian Yuan 6/6 NANER NANER NANER NATER 17
AExL

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Chong Ka Yee (Note 1) 56 NATER NATER NATER NATER 0/
sk ()

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUFHTES

Mr. Chen Ce 6/6 33 4/4 21 n n
REKE

Ms. Ji Fang (Note 2) 22 1 2 0/0 0/0 0/0
skt (fti2)

Mr. Gao Shuo 6/6 33 4/4 212 11 on
RELE

Ms. Chen Feng (Note 3) 1/4 02 12 072 o1 01
it (fiE3)

Notes: M

1. Mr. Chong Ka Yee resigned as non-executive Director with effect from 4 1. HEEAERIENTESE BT - NF/ANA
June 2019. AR o

2. Ms. Ji Fang was appointed as independent non-executive Director with effect 2. AT EEERBUNNTESE BT —NEF—
from 1 January 2019. A—B.EK -

3. Ms. Chen Feng resigned as independent non-executive Director with effect 3. AL TRHEBYVIRTES BT —NF—HA—
from 1 January 2019. AARAERL -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors and three INEDs as named below. An updated
list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions is posted
on GEM'’s website and the Company’s website from time to time.

Executive Directors:

Mr. ZHU Yongjun
Ms. Wang Fei
Ms. TIAN Yuan

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. CHONG Ka Yee (Resigned on 4 June 2019)
Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Ce

Mr. GAO Shuo

Ms. JI Fang (Appointed on 1 January 2019)
Ms. CHEN Feng (Resigned on 1 January 2019)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
section of this Annual Report.

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules,
Mr. Chen Ce and Mr. Gao Shuo have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

Each Director has sufficient experience to hold the position so as
to carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently. The Board
provides the Group with diversified industry expertise, advised the
management on strategic development and the Board maintains
high standard of compliance with financial and other mandatory
reporting requirements as well as providing adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and the
Company as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Diversity

In compliance with the requirement set out in Code Provision
A.5.6 of the CG Code, the Company has put in place a Board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out its
approach to achieve diversity on the Board, and a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company.

Measurable Objectives

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Company
will also take into account factors based on its own business
model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Progress

The Board and the Nomination Committee believe that the
diversity of the Board is sufficient given that there are Directors
from different industries and with different experience, skills and
knowledge. As at 30 June 2019, the analysis of the Board diversity
is set out as follows.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and CEO are separated to reinforce
independence accountability and responsibility. Mr. Zhu Yongjun
is the Chairman of the Company who is responsible for enabling
effective operation of the Board. Ms. Wang Fei is the CEO of the
Company who is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s business.

Role and Function of the Board and the Management

The Company has set out the respective functions and
responsibilities which can be reserved to the Board and delegated
to management or Board committees. The Board delegates day-
to-day operations of the Group to management while reserving
certain key matters, mainly relating to the approval and
monitoring of the Group’s overall strategies, policies and business
plans; and overseeing and evaluating the performance of the
Group. It is also responsible for promoting the success of the
Group and its businesses by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. Board committees for specific functions are also set up to
ensure efficient Board operations. The composition and functions
of each Board committee and their major roles and functions are
described below. The final decision still rests with the Board unless
otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the relevant
committees.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the INEDs in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Directors consider that all the INEDs remain
independent.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into an executive
Director’s service agreement with the Company and each of the
INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with specific terms
with the Company with an initial term of three years, subject to
renewal by the Company. All Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and are eligible for re-election at the general meeting
in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Deassapa

Exg )
EFERTHAR

TRRTBAHE cABRD - AEEBIE
RENREE ABEXER/RARREF B8
FEEEETUBREE  TFRE/ARRFT
Biag  ARARERBZATRERE -

ExeREEE A KRB

ARREFIAESEAG AR TERELE
FREENRGIBE EFERAKENA
FEERHEEERE  BREREETEAXN
EE(E2AEMERERAEERERBRE - K

REEBE  UREE MFHEARERER) W
B -BEFENAFREEREEAKSENS

1o UHEEARSE R E XK IIER - AR
ATHETEFZEENAEBRYT  URFRES
SHNRBEE - REEZ BN LB

Eiﬂi;:fﬁééli&%ﬁbuii_ﬁDTT<>&%3E%§Fﬂ%§,\a

BESERAEY BRIESSNHEERR
TRIEHE o

B RR
RAREBESBIIENITESRIEGEM £

MR 5. 09 RIEH 2 FEBMMEFER - AAF]
REEERBELIFNTESTIEELAL -

ESZAREE

BEHTEFCEBARAFILATE SRS
& ARBUFATESERAQBRILABE
EE%Z%E& MHEMR/=F  fEATEAR
NEEH - MEEFYARBAMEZMARN
BRAEHmMERERASEBERSE -

—NEEERE - BEZRARA 39



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERERME

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting but shall not
be taken into account in determining the Directors or the number
of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

Every Director, including non-executive Directors and INEDs, was
appointed for a term of three years and would be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three
years at the annual general meeting of the Company. Their
appointments would be reviewed by Nomination Committee
when they were due for re-election.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Group adopted the practice of holding Board meetings that
included both executive Directors and INEDs presented in person
or through electronic means of communication regularly at least
four times every year. During regular meetings of the Board, the
Directors discussed and formulated the overall strategies of the
Group, monitored financial performances and reviewed the
financial results, as well as discussed and decided on other
significant matters. The Board will also meet on other occasions
when a board-level decision on a particular matter is required.

Generally, notice of at least fourteen days should be given for a
Company’s regular Board meeting. For all other Board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given. The Directors will receive the
agenda and accompanying documents tabled at the meeting
before regular Board meetings and will be given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for discussion.

In order to ensure that Board procedures, applicable rules and
code provisions are followed, all Directors are able to access the
company secretary of the Company for advice. Upon reasonable
request, the Directors will be able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense.
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BOARD MEETINGS (continued)

The company secretary of the Company assists the Chairman of
the Board in preparing the agenda for each meeting. Minutes of
such meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company
or other duly authorised person during the meeting which
included all decisions made during the meetings together with
concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any). All
minutes are open for inspection by any Director on reasonable
notice. Such minutes are recorded in sufficient detail of the
matters considered and decisions reached. Draft and final versions
of minutes are sent to Directors for comment and records,
respectively.

All Directors gave sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group to ensure a competent Board operation during the year.

Apart from the Board meetings, Board committees met on other
occasions during which matter relating to their respective terms of
reference was discussed. The Board committee members would
receive notice, agenda and documents to be tabled for
consideration in advance of each meeting in accordance with the
CG Code and respective terms of reference.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to cover
the Directors and officers’ risk exposure arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed annually.

Deassapa

EEZEE2 (A

ZAN/NG ﬁ*ﬁiﬁ%ﬂj}%$”\\£ffﬁ§%%§%%
%i EAQ/ET;%E’]EN#XHE&_}EEEZ’R Tjﬁl_/,‘
iﬁ’\;\%ﬁﬁF’%’ﬁEﬁTﬁ@éﬁ]Eﬁﬁ/\i%T (2
EREZELEHZAARE  URRHZHE®&
MFREZRUER(WA) FMESHTHRES
BERM N HENEEEN ZEeRCEE
RAHMMLH D ZERNEERELARE
SRLENTREREERELEBEEME
B UHRSELERRRREF -

REREFENEREF  RAFE  FIAE
ZERRDOREARBHIRARKENEE -

BREFTEHRIN
GEE R %

H-RELXER

EEZ BN EMBERATAH
BZBEREEGR S
SRIREECBERE B

e EWEHTEA%;\;%EEEH' W B)5x 2 DA
ERZBE  BELXT -
EEREREEAEREIRE
ARFELHBEZEERE  UREEEK

SRERABECEERM AT REAYEZ L
ZRBEERTFETR

—NEFERE - SEEERARA 41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERERME

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will be
given to every newly appointed Director. Directors will be provided
with materials relevant to the Company’s business and director’s
duties and responsibilities. In addition, in order to allow the
Directors to understand the latest development of regulatory and
compliance issues, they are also provided with market news and
regulatory updates. A summary of their records of continuous
development training (“CPD") is as follows:

ESHIIRERER

BENEEZEEFERM2E  EXARESFF]
ENEBE  c EERERBEBERRTZE
BREEBENEENER - LI BRERE
ETHEERIEARBEZIEMNER K
NERUTISEARENEEEZ K  RER N
SEEREI((FEZEREI D OREME N
I

Types of CPD Subject of CPD

Directors BHEBREIER FERREIEE
Executive Directors: BITEE:
Mr. ZHU Yongjun REERSE 1,2 A B
Ms. WANG Fei IERL 1,2 A B
Ms. TIAN Yuan il 1,2 A B
Non-executive Director: FHTEE:
Mr. CHONG Ka Yee (Resigned on 4 June 2019) SR (R -E-NF ANBHET) 1,2 A B
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHTEE:
Mr. CHEN Ce BRERELL 1,2 A B
Mr. GAO Shuo SEEsE 1,2 A B
Ms. JI Fang (Appointed on 1 January 2019) ART(RZE-NF-A-BEZE) 1,2 AB
Ms. CHEN Feng (Resigned on 1 January 2019) Bzt (R -Z-NF—A—HEHT) 1,2 A B

Note 1: B3 1

1. Attending in-house training or seminars 1. SERNEIEILHN G

2. Reading newspapers, journals and updated legal and regulatory news 2. MERE  HHEEEEREEEM

Note 2: MizE2 -

A.  The Company and the industry’s news A. NE|REAFE

B. Laws, rules and regulations, accounting standards B. R BRPIRCER - 2T ER|
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the audit
committee (“Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
("Remuneration Committee”), nomination committee
("Nomination Committee”) and corporate governance committee
("CG Committee”) for overseeing various particular aspects of the
Group's affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of
reference of such Board committees are available on GEM's
website and the Company’s website. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resource to discharge their duties and,
upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

The majority of the members of the CG Committee are INEDs and
all members of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee are INEDs. The lists of the chairman
and members of each Board committee are set out below.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 28 January
2015 with written terms of reference. As at the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three INEDs,
namely Mr. Chen Ce (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Ms. Ji
Fang and Mr. Gao Shuo. Mr. Chen Ce and Mr. Gao Shuo have
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include
overseeing the Group’'s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures, reviewing the
Group's financial information and reviewing the Group’s
relationship with external auditors.

During the year, four meetings of the Audit Committee were held
and resolutions were passed by the Audit Committee to review
and approve the financial results of the Group, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted, risk management
and internal control systems, the scope of non-audit services
provided by the external auditors and its independence, and
financial reporting matters (in conjunction with the external
auditors for the audited results). The Audit Committee endorsed
the accounting treatments adopted by the Group and, to the best
of its ability assured itself that the disclosures of the financial
information in the Company’s quarterly, interim and annual
reports comply with the applicable accounting standards and the
GEM Listing Rules.
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EERERME

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited
annual results published during the year have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosure has been made.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 28
January 2015 with written terms of reference. In line with good
and fair practice, as at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs, namely
Ms. Ji Fang (Chairlady of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Chen
Ce and Mr. Gao Shuo.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior
management; reviewing their remuneration packages, approving
the management’s proposal of remuneration packages by
reference to corporate goals, objectives and market practices.

During the year, three meetings of the Remuneration Committee
were held to review the structure and policy of remuneration of
the Group and approve the remuneration package of Directors.
The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee according to the Directors’ respective
responsibilities, individual performance and prevailing market
conditions.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 28
January 2015 with written terms of reference. As at the date of
this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely Mr. Gao Shuo (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Chen Ce and Ms. Ji Fang. The Nomination
Committee has adopted the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, the
Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy, making
recommendations to the Board on nomination, rotation and re-
appointment of Directors, and assessing the independence of
INEDs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

During the year, two meetings of the Nomination Committee
were held to review the structure, size, composition and
diversification (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board, review the policy of Directors’ nomination related
matters, assess the independence of INEDs, make
recommendations to the Board on the proposal of re-appointment
of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of a new
Director.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee adopted the Nomination Policy on 20
September 2018. Details of the Nomination Policy are set out as
follows:

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors in
assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

1. Reputation for integrity;
2. Accomplishment and experience in different industries;

3. Commitment to the Board in respect of available time and
relevant interest;

4.  Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
services

These factors are not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The
Nomination Committee has discretion to nominate any person as
it considers appropriate.
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EERERME

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)

Nomination Procedures

1. The secretary of the Nomination Committee or the Company

Secretary shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee,
and invites nominations of candidates from Board member if
any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to
its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put
forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and
to invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be
sent to shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for shareholders to make the nominations. The
names, brief biographies (including qualifications and
relevant experience), independence, proposed remuneration
and any other information, as required pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed
candidates will be included in the circular to shareholders.

A shareholder can serve a notice to the Company Secretary
within the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without the
Board’s recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination, other than those candidates set out in the
shareholder circular. The particulars of the candidates so
proposed will be sent to all shareholders for information by
a supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any
time before the general meeting by serving a notice in
writing to the Company Secretary or Chairman.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.

The Nomination Committee may obtain independent professional
advice, at the Company'’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if
it considers necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Corporate Governance Committee

The Company established the CG Committee on 28 January 2015
with written terms of reference. As at the date of this annual
report, the CG Committee comprises one executive Director,
namely Ms. Wang Fei (Chairlady of the CG Committee) and three
INEDs, namely Mr. Chen Ce, Ms. Ji Fang and Mr. Gao Shuo.

The principal duties of the CG Committee include, among other
things: (i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making recommendations
to the Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the
Group’'s employees and Directors; and (v) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, one meeting of the CG Committee was held to
review the Group’s corporate governance policy, practice and
procedures and oversee of the Company’s compliance with the
CG codes.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Foo Man Yee Carina of CS Legend Corporate Services Limited,
an external service provider, has been engaged by the Company
as company secretary since 19 May 2017. Her primary contact
person at the Company is Mr. He Hongbing, the chief financial
officer of the Company.

During the year, the company secretary undertook not less than
fifteen hours of relevant professional training required under Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditors of the Group, RSM, about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.
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EERERME

COMPANY SECRETARY (continued)
Auditors’ Remuneration

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering and reviewing
the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing any non-
audit functions performed by the external auditors, including
whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential
material adverse effect on the Group.

For the year, the fees paid/payable to the auditors in respect of
the audit and non-audit services are as follows:

Services

Audit services =B PR %

Non-audit services I ER S
Taxation service &R T%

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5, the remuneration of the
member(s) of senior management of the Group (excluding the
Directors of the Company) for the year by band is as follows:

HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems (”Systems”) and reviewing their
effectiveness annually. Such Systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company's strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective Systems.

The Company has been developing and adopting various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority for
implementation by key business processes and office functions,
including project management, financial reporting, human
resources etc. The main features are as follows:

Control structure
A. The Board

(i)  ensure the maintenance of appropriate and effective
Systems in order to safeguard the Shareholders’
investment and assets of the Company;

(i) define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limit of authority; and

(iii)  determine the nature and extent of significant risk that
the Company is willing to take in achieving the
strategic objectives and formulate the Company’s risk
management strategies.

B. Audit Committee

(i)  assist the Board in leading the Management and
overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the Systems of the Company;

(i) review and discuss with the Management annually to
ensure that the Management has performed its duty to
have effective Systems; and

(iii)  consider major findings on internal control matters and
make recommendations to the Board.
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EERERME

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Control structure (continued)
C. The Management

(i)  design, implement and monitor the Systems properly
and ensure the Systems are executed effectively;

(i) monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks in
day-to-day operations;

(iii)  give prompt responses to, and follow up the findings
on internal control matters; and

(iv) provide confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness
of the Systems.

D. Internal Audit Function

(i)  carry out the analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Systems.

Control approach

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk evaluation
and risk management measures and also reviewing the effectiveness of
the Systems and resolving material internal control defects.

The Management conducted interviews with relevant staff
members, reviewing relevant documentation of the internal
control system, identifying and evaluating findings of any
deficiencies in the design of the Company’s internal control
system, providing recommendations for improvement and
following up on the effectiveness of implementation of such
recommendations, where appropriate. The scope and findings of
review on the risk management and internal control are reported
to and reviewed by the Audit Committee during the year.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines are in place to
safeqguard the assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring maintenance of proper accounting records in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use and/or external
publication.

50 MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2019

2 e B R e R B BE 4 ()

EIRLRE ()
C. EEfE
() ZERT BERLAEEZFZRLS

WHER % F RSB MMIT

(i) EBERRRTERDIERMEERREE
Rz

(i) HERAMEZEEEZHERIEL R
Ry A [ B R BRAE ¢ K2

(ivy MZERESGZERERESFSRH
ﬁﬁgfu °

D. AESFRBEE

() HEERGZERMRARE R
A RIBSIEE -

EEAE

[\ EIRAE F R E R R - E R R MR
B - TR %S RGN A R MR E
RNBPESFEERK ©

EIRE MR R TETTE - WERM AR
AR - BRI R AHE AR R E AR E R
MR ZFIER 2T - RS EIR MR
RELREEREHEEZZZAREHER) -
HEREEIAREERMNBERERER
FRAERERZESULEEZ -

I E A2 Fr T M BUE R R Bl A RIE R G E A
SEEBE  MARRBEMER  RAER
MR E STl WRBAIETFEERHER
AR A BB S T



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Control approach (continued)

During the year under review, the Board engaged SHINEWING
Risk Services Limited (“SHINEWING") to perform internal control
review on major business operations of the Group. SHINEWING
evaluated the internal control system and studied also risks and
mitigation strategies. An internal control review report with the
relevant findings and recommendations was prepared to the
Board. Meanwhile, the risks identified during the review exercise
together with the respective ratings, existing situations and
mitigating plans were all documented in the risk register.
Accordingly, the Board is of the view that the systems of internal
control and risk management are effective and there are no
irregularities, improprieties, fraud or other deficiencies that
suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control system.

The Board, in conjunction with the Audit Committee, annually
assessed and reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems and procedures and considered the adequacy of resources
and financial reporting function. The Group currently does not
have an internal audit department, but it has engaged SHINEWING
to provide the Group with internal audit services. The Board will
review and consider to establish such department as and when it
thinks necessary.

Inside Information

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of inside
information and for compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, the Group has in place the “Continuous Disclosure
and Communication Policy” for handling and dissemination of
inside information. Under the procedures, heads of business units
shall report to the Directors any potential inside information event
as soon as practicable when it materialises for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making disclosure.

Annual Review

During the year, the Audit Committee has conducted an annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems. The
results of the review were reported by the Audit Committee to the
Board, based on which the Directors concluded that, for the year,
the risk management and internal control systems were effective
and adequate and the Group has complied with the provisions in
the CG Code regarding risk management and internal control.
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EERERME

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
any one or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings at the date of deposit of the
requisition shall have the right, by written notice to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to be
called by the Directors for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the Requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expense incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition in writing should be sent to the Company’s
principal place of business at Room 9078, 9/F., Empire Centre, 68
Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong.

The same procedure also applies to any proposal to be tabled at
shareholders’ meetings for adoption. The Board will review
Shareholders’ enquires on a regular basis. Specific enquiries and
suggestions by Shareholders can be sent in writing to the Board or
the company secretary at the above address.

In case of shareholding enquires, Shareholders should direct their
enquiries to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Union Registrars Limited, via its online holding enquiry at
www.unionregistrars.com.hk, dial its hotline at (852) 2849 3399
or go in person at its public counter at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two
Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point, Hong
Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure
of relevant information to its Shareholders. The focus of the
Company is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair,
accurate, truthful and complete thereby enabling the public as
well as the investors to make rational and informed decisions.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue
with its Shareholders through various means. The Company
updates its Shareholders on its latest business developments and
financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports. All Shareholders’ communications are available on the
Company’s website. The website of the Company also provides
email address, postal address, fax number and telephone number
by which Shareholders’ enquiries may be put to the Company’s
Board. Appropriate members of the Board and senior
management are ready to respond to enquiries from Shareholders
and investors on a timely basis.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. All
Directors will make an effort to attend. External auditors are also
available at the annual general meeting to address Shareholders’
gueries. In case of any general meeting to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval, members of the independent Board
committee will also make an effort to attend to address
Shareholders’ queries.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no significant change in the
constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B ZBENRE

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Million
Stars Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 61 to 167, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

B R RETRE

FRELER

FRREZFHEREBRMANEXHE KoY
AR AV BRRCBEGRASERZEHE ° &
FERNIREMEZBRBEAMHHREL LA
B R ERTRE - BRfITenzEsRmEHR
EBER - RAEHERIZAREZSZES -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Impairment assessment of trade receivables

2. Impairment assessment of deposits, prepayments and other 2. &%

receivables

Key Audit Matters
BEAREFEZEE

1. Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements

FRH A EIREN T 22

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately HK$113,508,000 after allowance for
doubtful debts of appro><|mate¥_ HK$27,973,000.

R-T—hEAA-1H X =£BEAZ5EKIE
%1_13,508,000/%7E B B R BR #8549 27,973,000
BI0 °

In general, the credit terms granted by the Group to the
customers ranged between 0 to 60 days. Management
performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of
the trade receivables and the sufficiency of allowance
for doubtful debts based on information including credit
profile of different customers, ageing of the trade
receivables, historical settlement records, subsequent
settlement status, expected timing and amount of
realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going
trading relationships with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to
repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate the
expected credit losses for the impairment assessment.
An independent valuer was engaged by management to
prepare the valuatlon report to assess | ‘the impairment.

"R BEEE T RS R T 0560 ©
AEF@ﬁTH%Eﬁiﬂﬂ 5 ik 30 RS -
BEER O RERRR  BEKLERBGOE
PR RSB E S B S A AN
B8 5B T o T R AR B 7 M
SH . EBENE B S HE LR
BENNAMELER AT BTN B EE
- mEEsRE AR R R - AR

We focused on this area due to the impairment
assessment of trade receivables under the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant
mana%ementjud ements and estimates.

HREHEEEERETHE HRKS Eﬂ@%ﬁﬁ
REREAEEREHE KRG llkl:ﬁsz'ﬁ JER I &

T

1. BHREWFIEZFE
« FEASRRIE K B FE U R TE 2 R B AT
1
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BN ERNATEEEREREE
1. EZBWREZEENE

Our procedures in relation to recoverability of trade

receivables included:

HFEIEE 5 YA 2 AT B B R T B4

e  Assessing the professional competency and
independence of the valuation expert engaged by
Management;

o MEEREMEREEEROELENRBIMY

e Assessing whether trade receivables had been
appropriately grouped by management based on
their shared credlt risk charactenstlcs

. ?%%%FW NEEAEMEEERELRALSE

#ﬂﬂﬁaﬁ

J Testing the accuracy and completeness of the data
used by management to develop the historical loss
rates and assessing the sufficiency, reliability and
relevance of that data; ) .

. WW%@F%MﬁAﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ
é%;gigli WithZEBENT RN - 75 E ME

Z

J With the assistance of our internal valuation experts,
testing the calculation of the historical loss rate and
evaluating the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments made to reflect current and
forecast future economic conditiqns; A

. ERHEEERHHI T - USUELEEE G E
R S AZ AT VR HL DA B B B A e FRORI AR 2R A B A ST 9 B
E ARSI

e Testing the accuracy of the ageing of trade
receivables on a sample basis to supporting
documents; and

. EMMW SIS B 5 R IR R iR B ZERE I

T

e  Testing the calculation of expected credit loss
provisions applying the provision rates to the age
categories of the trade receivables outstanding at
the reporting date.

o EAMNIREBMRAKEEE F RN TRIERREE R
m%ﬁf NWE%@EEE%%Mﬁ#°
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

B ZBENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
HAREZEE

2. Impairment assessment of deposits,
prepayments and other receivables

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements
FRE A R E N3 23

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had deposits,
prepayments and other receivables of approximately
HK$145,465,000 after allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HK$16,506,000.
RZZE—NFEARA=+H " E5EHEFZS - BEX
18 % H A B UK FRIB 49 145,465,000 78 7T » BBk R IR
1##916,506,000 78 7T °

Management performed periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the deposits, prepayments and other
receivables and the sufficiency of allowance for doubtful
debts based on information including credit profile of
different counterparties, ageing of the deposits,
prepayments and other receivables, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and
on-going business relationships with the relevant
counterparties. Management also considered forward-
looking information that may impact the counterparties’
ability to repay the outstanding balances in order to
estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment. An independent valuer was engaged by
management to prepare the valuation report to assess
the impairment.

EREREBETEAHFINEENRR  BE  ANKE
Ko H A FEWRIA R BR IS - BE RN E - REERFUK
o BRAEBEEKROTEHRERSEAREEEAY
FHINFHBEEFHARSEEN RS - FBFIERHA
JFENCERIR AT s [l 14 Ko R EBR B ) 78 B I HETT RE BAAT AR ©
ERENERTEHFHEERNEEGERENDARE
HER  UEEREMENREREEEE - BBEZ
B (R ERMARRMAERS - LARFERE -

We focused on this area due to the impairment
assessment of deposits, prepayments and other
receivables under the expected credit losses model
involved the use of significant management judgements
and estimates.

HREHEEBBRER TR  BNRIEREME
WRIE R B RTS8 B E K E IR B HI i S (b5t -
gk AlSE-9z2 Nl
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNTEERREXRER

2. BE ANREREMEWRRZEEE

Our procedures in relation to recoverability of deposits,
prepayments and other receivables included:
HPIRIRIE S - TR RRIE K H W kIR 2 AT E] 14 A
2T ELE

e  Assessing the professional competency and
independence of the valuation expert engaged by
management;

o FHMEEEEMZREMAEERNERENMEILIME

o Assessing whether deposits, prepayments and other
receivables had been appropriately grouped by
management based on their shared credit risk
characteristics;

o  FHMEIRE  BARELREMEKFIBERLECHER
EREEARGERRSEEE RS

o Testing the accuracy and completeness of the data
used by management to develop the historical loss
rates and assessing the sufficiency, reliability and
relevance of that data;

o AIFERERUAEREBEXMARENERE
RN - WrHhZFEENFT B - IEERIE
Bz

° With the assistance of our internal valuation experts,
testing the calculation of the historical loss rate and
evaluating the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments made to reflect current and
forecast future economic conditions;

o THERNMEEBRNHT - AIRATEEXRNGFE
AFAZPVE L DA SRR B B B2 T8 B AR R A8 AR S B Al
MRS

J Testing the calculation of expected credit loss
provisions applying the provision rates to the age
categories of the other receivables outstanding at
the reporting date.

o JEMMIRE B HA AR W ER H) H th FE IR AR e KR R
e - SRR EEERRENAE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all the information in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed
on the Other Information, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

B R RETRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B ZBENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

B R RETRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B ZBENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Liu Eugene.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
25 September 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEBEmRkEMAZEKRER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

2019 PAONES]
—E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
(Represented)
(&%)
Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue WA 7 270,729 526,341
Cost of services AR 75 A 2R (230,119) (269,435)
Gross profit S 40,610 256,906
Other income, gains/(losses) Hulg A - Wzs (E8) 8 3,092 627
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIEAX (3.,266) (5,741)
Administrative expenses THAX (39,887) (35,148)
Net impairment losses on trade and & 5 [z H ) g e sk B HY SR (E
other receivables B8R (34,934) (4,742)
(Loss)/profit from operations e (BR),BR (34,385) 211,902
Finance costs B HS A AN 10 (626) (7)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAT (B518) A (35,011) 211,895
Income tax expense PSR X 11 (1,790) (7,714)

(Loss)/profit for the year from REFEKSEEENER

continuing operations (B518) %% 12 (36,801) 204,181
Discontinued operation ERIEREER
Profit from discontinued operation, REDK IS EEBNRF -

after tax for the year R FARRIR 15 195 399
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(EE),ER (36,606) 204,580
Other comprehensive income: Hib 2wk :
Items that may be reclassified to AJEEE DR B HE -

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BMEIRINERS 2 [E R =58

foreign operations (8,809) (3,002)
Exchange differences reclassified to REENBARIREN A

profit or loss on disposal of ZEGZERER

subsidiaries (257) 6
Other comprehensive income FREMEEKE (BREIE)

for the year, net of tax (9,066) (2,996)
Total comprehensive income FREHEWNELEEE

for the year (45,672) 201,584

—TE-NEFERE « EEEKARATA 61



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBEakEtEZEKER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000

FTERT

2018
—T-NF
HK$'000
FA&T
(Represented)
(&%)

(Loss)/profit for the year UTALTEEER
attributable to: (E518), %A
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ 2= /N (36,606) 199,455
Non-controlling interests FEVE b i = 5,125
(36,606) 204,580
Total comprehensive income UTATEGEERZE
for the year attributable to: W4 5E -
Owners of the Company NARIEB A (45,672) 196,459
Non-controlling interests FEE R A = 5,125
(45,672) 201,584
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (F5E) BR
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B K dse GBAL) 17
— From continuing and discontinued — REEFHBERLLEB R
operations BRI EE (9.15) 49.86
— From continuing operations — REFERLEER (9.20) 49.76
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
E MR R R

At30June 2019 R-Z—hFA=+H

2019 2018
—E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MG 18 3,631 5,747
Goodwill e 19 2,578 2,678
6,209 8,425
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 7g 21 - 8,809
Trade receivables B 5 el IE 22 113,508 226,434
Deposits, prepayments and Re - ENREREM
other receivables FEW ZN I8 23 145,465 73,454
Bank and cash balances RITNIR G e 24 19,564 113,435
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITER 24 3,905 1,050
282,442 423,182
Current liabilities REBERE
Trade payables Z S ENFIE 25 38,403 79,651
Accruals, other payables and EETEA - EMENFRIAN
trade deposits received BWE Si%e 26 6,351 23,868
Contract liabilities adaE 27 9,963 —
Amount due to a shareholder FER —Z PR IR 28 247 58,559
Borrowings BE 29 14,522 -
Finance lease payables FEN Rt EHERIE 30 - 175
Current tax liabilities SHINIEAE 9,130 7,841
78,616 170,094
Net current assets TEEERE 203,826 253,088
Total assets less current liabilities ##EERREBAG 210,035 261,513
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Borrowings ETE 29 170 -
Finance lease payables FE Rt E R ERIE 30 - 331
Deferred tax liabilities RIERRIBEEE 31 - 5
170 336
NET ASSETS EEFEE 209,865 261,177
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

At30June 2019 R=-ZT—hFA=1+H

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT

Capital and reserves ERRHE
Share capital P& X 32 4,000 4,000
Reserves & 205,865 257,177
TOTAL EQUITY R 209,865 261,177

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 September 2019 and E@gmEEeRN " SE—NWFhNA - +HBEIEN

are signed on its behalf by: A INIEEREREE -
ZHU Yongjun TIAN Yuan
KEE M
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MERRBHR
For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAIREARE

Non-
Share Share Statutory Exchange Other  Retained controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests  equity

Bx  RBER ZRdk ExRE bR RERM 45 FEHER Radd
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000

BT ThERn BT TR BT Thn  TEnT  TEn B
(note) v(‘note i) (noteii)
(Weki)  (hsi) (o)
At 1 July 2017 S e g = 4,000 39,782 208 757 100 14,746 59,593 - 59,593
Total comprehensive income ERRENGES
for the year - - - (2,996) - 199455 196,459 5125 201,584
Transfer to statutory reserve BREITHE 5 = 1,806 = - (1806) = = =
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi 3Ei2 51 = S = = = = 5,125 5,125 (5,125) =
Changes in equity for the year FRERE 5 = 1806 (2,99) - 00,774 201,584 - 201584
At 30 June 2018 RZE-\FRA=TH 4000 39,782 2014 (2239 100 217520 261,177 - W17
At 1 July 2018 RZE-\E+A-H 4,000 39,782 2,014 (2,239 100 217520 261,177 - 261177
Adjustments on initial application of & RER 17| £ IEREE
— HKFRS 9 (note 3) —ERNBREER
ELTAGES) - = - - - (56400  (5640) - (5640)
Restated balance at 1 July 2018 RZE-\FtF—H
ER kA 4,000 39,782 2,014 (2,239 100 211,880 255,537 - 255537
Total comprehensive income ENZENRES
for the year - - - (9,066) - (36,606) (45672) - (45672
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - (208) - (100) 308 - - -
Changes in equity for the year EnERg - - (208)  (9,066) (100)  (36,298)  (45,672) - (#5672
At 30 June 2019 R-E-NE~A=1H 4,000 39,782 1,806 (11,305) - 175582 209,865 - 209,865
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERESER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

66

Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for business enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), a portion of the profits of the
entities which are registered in the PRC has been transferred to the statutory
reserve which is restricted as to use. When the balance of such reserve
reaches 50% of the capital of that entity, any further appropriation is
optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised, upon approval of the relevant
authority, to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital. However, the
balance of the statutory reserve must be maintained at a minimum 25% of
capital after such usage.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation
of the net assets of the foreign operations of the Group from their functional
currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) that
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
foreign operations.

Other reserve
Other reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the
shares issued by the Company in exchange for the nominal value of the

share capital of its subsidiary arising from the reorganisation for listing in
February 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE-ZT—hFENA=+tHIFE

2019 2018
—E-NF

HK$'000
TR

HK$°000
TATT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax

RETHEECRSRE
BREAT (B51R), 5 A

Continuing operations BB IR S (35,011) 211,895
Discontinued operation AR PR H T 15 205 853
(34,806) 212,748
Adjustments for: AT RIERE -
Interest income FEWA (1,818) (517)
Interest expenses FERX 10 593 -
Finance lease charges MEMERX 10 33 7
Depreciation e 18 1,645 1,256
Exchange losses unrealised RNEIE N R - 409
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBA Rz K 35 (2,324) (109)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEME&H
plant and equipment 2 E518 743 49
Net impairment losses on trade B 5 & E M K GRIERRE
and other receivables B85 5 35,574 4,747
Operating (loss)/profit before BEESFHH 2K
working capital changes Eﬁ?@ ),/ A (360) 218,590
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEREL(Em) 4,425 (1,187)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B S W ERIER L (g hn) 84,378 (204,902)
Increase in deposits, prepayments e ENFUEREME
and other receivables U FRIE % A0 (82,232) (27,815)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B o ENRIEOR),1Ehn (38,994) 55,332
Decrease in accruals, other payables EETER - EMEMRIE
and trade deposits received REeWE 5ireRd (9,099) (19,707)
Increase in contract liabilities BHIBEEM 9,849 -
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &% (FTR) B4 2RSS (32,033) 20,311
Interest received EA B 624 72
Income tax paid B ETISE (12) (2,823)
Income tax refund Fr8FiR 3K 349 2,185
Net cash (used in)/generated from e Em B (FTA) /EXE
operating activities 2B FE (31,072) 19,745
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_—Z—NFNA=1+HILLFE

2019 2018
—E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

REZDEEZRERE

TR

THAT

Acquisition of subsidiaries W B B B A R 35(d) - 2,114
Disposal of subsidiaries k=) =N 35 (6,274) (606)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI TGN (2,855) (2)
Purchases of property, BEME  BELEE

plant and equipment 18 (1,103) (4,630)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME  BWEMEE

plant and equipment FriS 508 138 -
Net cash used in investing activities REZBMACIREFHE (10,094) (3,124)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHEEZRERE

ACTIVITIES
Borrowings raised sEEy 51,135 -
(Decrease)/increase in amount FEN—ZIRER

due to a shareholder %% /i“jjl] (58,312) 58,559
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (36,438) -
Repayment of finance lease payables  (EERE MRV EAEFIA (524) (44)
Interest paid 2T A (420) -
Finance lease charges paid ENRMERERE (33) (7)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEEB(FTA) EEZ

financing activities ReFEE (44,592) 58,508
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH RE&RBEEZEY(RL)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS NEEE (85,758) 75,129
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RtBE—HNEERES

AT 1 JULY EEY 113,435 41,567
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ &R & 6) 7 Hz/ 2

net (8,113) (3,261)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RAA=+THHRERRE

AT 30 JUNE ZE8Y 19,564 113,435
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND RERRSEEBYOM

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRIRS & 19,564 113,435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability. The address of the registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the
Company is Room 907B, 9th Floor, Empire Center, 68 Mody
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon. The Company’s shares are
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS");
and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

—mER

ARaRNFAEHETIMKLAEBRAR -
i i ¥% = BE 2 #h it & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands = 7%
NAZEEEEM BN A NLEER D A E
38 68 5% 7 Bl AP 9 907B E » AR A
BOREBBEXZFBR AR (TEHBR
FT]) GEM £ »

RRBIRIREERAR - HMIBARZE
EEBEN R M ERKRMZE20

mREE

HEGAUBRRERETESTNAE
([BEGFAE ) WA ZMBEEREE
M REER(TEFEMBRELEL DR
2o BRAVBRELMNBERBEMBERE
BR([HEHBREEN])  BAGHE
AI(TEBEER]) K2k - KFHRE
B TS $R R TN TR S P GEMBE 55 LT A
AEARBEGRXARER QAR (H
ERE)WERTE - ARBARMIER
SETBORKBELT -

BRI AGRME TN AREENE
TR B R AR A EAREE AT E 5
IR R R e RRIERI B AT R E
R - E3FIA T REAZFER I
FHEAMBRRPRRZNENMBES
AAHREASEER ERMEM L EH
SRR 2 EIEB 2 EF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

70

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Of these, the
following developments are relevant to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements:

(i)  HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

(i) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate
to the recognition, classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of
financial instruments, impairment of financial assets
and hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements
retrospectively to instruments that have not been
derecognised as at 1 July 2018 (date of initial
application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1 July 2018. The difference between carrying amounts
as at 30 June 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1
July 2018 are recognised in the opening retained
profits and other components of equity, without
restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 resulted in the following
changes to the Group’s accounting policies.

(@)  Classification

From 1 July 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the measurement category to be
measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

(b) Measurement

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

3. ET?%W%E%‘T&%@%%T?%EM%*&%E
H (&)

(a) BRI REETERBMBREE
Bl ()

BEBUBHREERFEIRITHMT A/
(#)

SR B A I TR R A5 O S A
EENGH I RATES -

(a ¥

H-Z—/\FtHA-HE &~
SEBESREENBRGT
REHER AN B ZFTERER -

PERFAREEESREE
MEBRAARRSRENS
HIEFKIME

b itE

EEEEZFEENRHEN
AR ARESWER
REBHHE -

RINBERE - AEREIZAF
EfESMEE  HWERMEE
WIEEBRRRAFE(ES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_—Z—NFNA=1+HILLFE

72

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

()

()

Measurement (continued)

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments measured at amortised cost.

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in other income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses), together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Impairment

From 1 July 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward-looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. RMFIREEITEEBUBREE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al (&)
(continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) EAFHIIRLIETEBMBREE
(continued) A (&)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued) EBUBEHREERNEI[HMT A
(4&)
Set out below is the impact of the adoption of HKFRS HNE AN BMEERFEIREAE

9 on the Group.

Bz ZEZEIMT o

For assets in scope of the HKFRS 9 impairment model, BRE BB RE LR E IGRE
impairment losses are generally expected to increase RAEEANEEMS - —REH
and become more volatile. The Group has determined WEEBESEINRSEE REE -
that the application of HKFRS 9 impairment model AEBEEER-ZE—-—N\FLtHA—
requirements at 1 July 2018 results in an additional AEREBUBHRELEAE IRRE

impairment allowance as follows:

BB EPTEBERINRER BT

Note HK$'000
B E FET
Impairment allowance at 30 June 2018 RZZ-NFRXA=THRE
under HKAS 39 BB GERIE 39K ARERE 4,657
Additional impairment recognised at R-_T—-N\FtHA—H
1 July 2018 on: MR ERINAE -
— Trade receivables — B SRR (@) 3,344
— Deposits, prepayments and — &% BNFRBEREAM
other receivables FEMFRIR (@) 2,296
Impairment allowance at 1 July 2018 RZZE-N\FLtA—BREEE
under HKFRS 9 BRSS9 SR AR BB 10,297

—E-NEEERE - EEERARAR 73



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BEMFIIRKETEBUEREE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al (&)
(continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) ERFITIRLEBITEBMERELE
(continued) 8 (&)

BB BHREERFEINTHMT A/
(#&)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

TRETIIBEMMTEEAZER
—E-N\FLtRA-—HNBHERE
ERBEE S EAF 39RM 1A
AEDBERREETBM KRS EL
FIRAMTEDLE ©

The following table and the accompanying notes
below explain the original measurement categories
under HKAS 39 and the new measurement categories
under HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s financial
assets as at 1 July 2018.

Carrying Carrying
Classification Classification amount under  amount under
under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
BEEENTS
BEEEST REBAVH BEEES: WmEER
AERIZE 39 WEERNEIH HERIZE 3957 F9%%
D Z i ZIREE ZIREE
Financial assets HK$'000 HK$'000
EREE FET FET
Trade receivables (@)  Loansand Amortised cost 226,434 223,090
receivables
B I EW R ERREWIE  BHEKAR
Deposits, prepayments (a) Loans and Amortised cost 8,031 5,735
and other receivables receivables

B BIAREMRKGR ERRERGIR  EERA

Bank and cash balances (a) Loans and Amortised cost 113,435 113,435
receivables

FITRREH ERREWFIE  #HEKAR

Pledged bank deposits (a) Loans and Amortised cost 1,050 1,050
receivables

EERRITIFR ERREWEIE  BHEKR

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities e ma Bt ERMRFEER -
remain the same. The carrying amounts for all financial RZZE-NFtHA—H FiE<at
liabilities at 1 July 2018 have not been impacted by the BEZEEEBETLARAZINVBERAZ

initial application. T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

Note:

(a) Trade receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables,
bank and cash balances and pledged bank deposits that were
classified as loans and receivables under HKAS 39 are now
classified at amortised cost. An increase of HK$3,344,000 and
HK$2,296,000 in the allowance for impairment of the trade
receivables and deposits, prepayments and other receivables
respectively was recognised in opening retained profits at 1
July 2018 on transition to HKFRS 9.

Impairment losses related to trade receivables, deposits,
prepayments and other receivables are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. As a result, the
Group reclassified impairment losses amounting to
HK$4,747,000 recognised under HKAS 39 from “other
income, gains/(losses)” to “net impairment losses on
trade and other receivables” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 30 June 2018.

ﬁ%%ﬂ&@%ﬁé%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
H (&)

(a)

P& R T R] R ARAE RT BB R RS 3R 5
Bl ()

BB BHREERFEIRTHMT A
(#&)

Wi

(@ REEFBSTEUNEINRSIBAER
REKZIBNE SERARIE R B
NRBEREMERFIE - RITRBESLE
FRA R B ERIRITIF R IR LB KA D
¥ BPRRFENES ENRER
H fth fE U FRIE 2 R (B B E RS N
3,344,000 770 % 2,296,000 77T © EA
BEERBUBREENE RN
Z—\F+ A — HOFEVRRB & NFE

7
s ©

EHRESEKRFE B BAXK
T8 K E b B U 3R I8 2 R (B B B R AR
AEREREMEEKEREBZY -
At AEEREZE T — \F X
A=Z+HLEFEZHRE B REM
2EKRZRABFRER SR
% 39 5% 1 3R 2 B 1B &5 18 4,747,000
EITH [ HalA - ks (EE)]
EHOEZE [EHREMEBRGIEDN
RIEEIRFRE] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3.

76

RMFAIREETERYBRESE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al (&)

(continued)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) EAFHIIRLIETEBMBREE

(continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. It replaced HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 July
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening retained profits (or other
components of equity, as appropriate) and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore, in
accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15,
the Group has elected to apply the standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed
at 1 July 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue
and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 resulted in the following
changes to the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. RAMHMIREBIERYBREE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS B (&)

(continued)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) ERFITRLEBITIEBHMBRESE
(continued) Al (48)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with EBUBHREEREISHE[EFE
customers (continued) e as | (4E)
Revenue from sales of leather products is recognised FEEmEEWARERITEHI#Z
when control of the products has transferred, being ERRER NERINEP R
when the products are delivered to the customers and BABTEARTSERFENE
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the oo 2 B o

customer'’s acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the leather products B2 5 B fm 1 A2 AT R R R W R IE
are delivered as this is the point in time that the ERLTIREBR KR BAANES
consideration is unconditional because only the 22 IRy BT A T K A AR R AR RO RRE P B o

passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Revenue from the provision of internet advertising REDBAEAESKERBLEBZEHX
agency services and mobile payment technical support IR 2 45 AR 745 DA R HE B HE 002 /,
services and the promotion of mobile game and related KiEAREEEH KRN IRERSE
services are recognised over the period in which the HERNER KRREBRLES AL
services are performed representing the entity’s right REZRBZEREZEF -

to consideration for the services performed to date.

Revenue from performance based advertisements is MREESRAPHERMBERSN
recognised on a per-click basis when the users click on BARRRGREEEESNA
the content for pay for click advertisements, or on a RAEPERGARERNESNE ZE
per-display basis, when the advertising contents are ERNBRREGRIBERELERRIA -

displayed to users for pay for instant display
advertisements.

Set out below is the impact on HKFRS 15 on the BB REEAF 1S RERER
Group. ZEEBEINMAT o
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ&%@ﬂ%ﬁé%ﬁﬂ%iﬁ%ﬁ
H (8])

(a) EAHMETREETERBMBREE

(continued) A (&)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with BEEBBEREEBEISHEEFE
customers (continued) #H s [(4E)

The following tables summarise the estimated impact
of adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019,
by comparing the amounts reported under HKFRS 15
in these consolidated financial statements with
estimates of the hypothetical amounts that would have
been recognised under HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 if those
superseded standards had continued to apply to 2019
instead of HKFRS 15. These tables show only those line
items impacted by the adoption of HKFRS 15:

TERBARANT BT B RE LR E
SSREAREEAE_T—NFRA
= THEUEFENGRAPHREROMG
AAEE TARKUFLRAVBHR
RPRBEBMBRELERIF 155
EHRNEE > BRFBGITELSE
185 R BB T ERIFE 11 SRR
REZBBABAELR(HZFE
RERMIEE BB RELERIE5
F-EHEAR T -NF) - ZZF7
REBTAZERNETBUBEREE
AIF 155k FEMNIAR

Amounts
reported in
accordance

with HKFRS 15

RIBE R
HEZERE 155
ERNEHE
HK$’000

FTHERT

Estimated
impact of
adoption of
HKFRS 15

Hypothetical
amounts

under HKASs
18 and 11
EBETHER
E18HRER
B EAE 1R
HTHRESH
HK$’000

FTHET

¥R &5 2E B 58 15 55
A2
HK$'000

TR

As at 30 June 2019 R-ZB-h%E
ANAZ+H
Consolidated statement 42 & BATSAR A&
of financial position (f5%%)
(extract)
Trade deposits received ~ ZWE 5H1k4 (i)
Contract liabilities AHEE (i)

(i)  Reclassifications were made as at 1 July 2018 to
be consistent with the terminology under HKFRS
15:

Contract liabilities for amounts received from
customers recognised in relation to provision of
internet advertising agency services were
previously presented as “Trade deposits
received”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. RHFIIRKEBIEEAMBREE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Bl (&)
(continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b) THEME R RERZHET RKERT

effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective
for the financial year beginning 1 July 2018. These new
and revised HKFRSs include the following which may
be relevant to the Group.

BRMBRELER

AEBEY EITRERAC RMERR
R-ZZE-NFLA—-HBRARZHEK
FREBOE REIETR BT
WELER o ZFHE MEETER
s mE R B T 5 e A
=B/ AR -

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

ISENIEE LAt 321 - ol

HKFRS 16 Leases
BEENBREERFE 1658 [HE ]

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

SRTEIRE AR

1 January 2019
—E-NE—-A—H

1 January 2019

R (BRMBEHEZREZES) -REBEF 23R [MEREEZTEEE] —ZT-NAF—A—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

EREMBHRERN _FT-AFE_T-FRH2FELE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has identified some
aspects of HKFRS 16 which may have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Further details of the expected impacts are discussed
below. While the assessment has been substantially
completed for HKFRS 16, the actual impacts upon the
initial adoption of the standards may differ as the
assessment completed to date is based on the
information currently available to the Group, and
further impacts may be identified before the standards
are initially applied. The Group may also change its
accounting policy elections, including the transition
options, until the standards are initially applied.

1 January 2019
—E-NF—A—H

A E LA A FERT A RFET
ZAEERERARBHEELZ
FE-oRlE AEECERE
AU BREERFE 16 2ETHE
KEHERAVBRREREATE -
IR E E— BN M
BEARBEEMEHRELERE 1657
MFHEE KRBT - EEAREZS 5T
BBV REAE TO E R AR E B AT RIS
MER  BRARMZSENRNE
BRE B T~R - AR ERERZ
SHRAFASETHMTE - &K
BT A EAEE S BURERE 8
RBEEEER BEEEARAZSE
AIRLE -
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3.

80

RMFAIREETERYBRESE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al (&)

(continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b) EEMENRERZHFTREIEET

effective (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related
interpretations. The new standard introduces a single
accounting model for lessees. For lessees the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed and
lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets).
HKFRS 16 carries forward the accounting requirements
for lessors in HKAS 17 substantially unchanged. Lessors
will therefore continue to classify leases as operating or
financing leases.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply
the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption.

Based on a preliminary assessment, the standard will
affect primarily the accounting for the Group’s
operating leases. The Group's office property leases are
currently classified as operating leases and the lease
payments (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Under HKFRS 16 the Group
may need to recognise and measure a liability at the
present value of the future minimum lease payments
and recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset for
these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability
and depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be
recognised in profit or loss. The Group’s assets and
liabilities will increase and the timing of expense
recognition will also be impacted as a result.

MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED = ANNUAL REPORT 2019

R BREER (&)
BB BHEERIFE165 [HE ]

FRMBHREELE16RARER
SETERIZE1 75 HE | LR
IR R S| AB A AME —
SEREEN - ARABARD K
ENMmMEES  BEAREHEEHE
REAEEEMPEAG(EHHEE
MMEEBEEECHEREERER
%) > BAVBHRELRFE 16 AR
HEEB ST ENE17RAROA
AR EHRERTE - WEREAES) -
Hit - HEAREEHEHESER
REHEHRERE -

BEEMBRELANFEIHRN -F
—NF-A-BHZRABZIFE
MR AR - NEBBRABCEE
AR TSR ERERAR L —FE
B REE -

REMNLHE - ZERKEERZE
AEEREHECEFTRE - A%
BeHAENEHERSBREE
ME - MEENKHBRLEAGLT
M ERMER) RIH AN B RAHER
RAX - REBEVHRELLSE
165%  NEEAEEARZTHER
REREAEEE R 2 RERER M7t
BR{E THEIAEMEEREEE -
HEBEZMNEAXMERBEEE
ZIEBNBRTER - AKEK
BENBESHERE AR R

ZERNEEXINTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. RHFIIRKEBIEEAMBREE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A (&)

(continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b) THEME R RERZHET RKERT

effective (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As disclosed in note 36, the Group’s future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
for its office properties amounted to HK$6,279,000 as
at 30 June 2019. These leases are expected to be
recognised as lease liabilities, with corresponding right-
of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The amounts
will be adjusted for the effects of discounting and the
transition reliefs available to the Group.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets, the Group expects that the transition
adjustments to be made upon the initial adoption of
HKFRS 16 will not be material. However, the expected
changes in accounting policies as described above
could have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements from 2019 onwards.

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The interpretation of HKAS 12 Income Taxes sets out
how to apply that standard when there is uncertainty
about income tax treatments. Entities are required to
determine whether uncertain tax treatments should be
assessed separately or as a group depending on which
approach will better predict the resolution of the
uncertainties. Entities will have to assess whether it is
probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. If yes, the accounting treatment will be
consistent with the entity’s income tax filings. If not,
however, entities are required to account for the
effects of the uncertainty using either the most likely
outcome or expected value method depending on
which method is expected to better predict its
resolution.

The Group is unable to estimate the impact of the
interpretation on the consolidated financial statements
until a more detailed assessment has been completed.

ERUBREER (&)
BBYMBHEERF 1655 HE (&)

WK 6T HE R —NF
NAZTH AEERERAE
¥MTAREEEEEETAHERK
&IEEERFAE6,279,0008 7T © —
BEMB B EHRELELF 16551
EHZEHESERAEEERAG
WHERBEERAEEE - EHE2HE
e R ERAEBATRZA
ELZHEN AR -

GRHEREREEFMEETRE
RN REBERHNRNBRAETE
IR EERE 165R & AMER AR
AEBIAEK - AWM - Ll EF K

—NFENGEAVHFRRELEEX

B/ 488
®rE

BB (EBRUBBERRESE) -
REE23 IS HEE 2 TEEN

BB ERIE 1258 [FA1SHH] 22
BN FEEBRAMGHER LT
fE 7 MBS PR AN f] FE R A% 2RI - E BB
RBE T ZHAREELREE
Bk B (RTWEIAREEE
BRATNEEE 2BRTRME) - B
BAFERBGHRBEELAAEESR
TEEZHBRIE - WEX S5
RIS ERERER 2SN B RT
B8 A HARX BEA
RAAIEERAZERXAHRER
& (R TR HA AR 07 VA s BB (= TRBI R
RITEME )BT HEE ML FEAR e
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82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its

judgement in the process of applying the Group’s

accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of

judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and

estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 30 June. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #HE—=Z

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Consolidation (continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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4.

84

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in
the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. dentifiable assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the Group
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews
are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently
reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

0]

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"),
which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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4.

86

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iij) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation

currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that

statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the

transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and

translated at the closing rate.
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE-ZT—hFENA=+tHIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., ERSFBEER @)

(continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (d) Y% - BERRXE

Property, plant and equipment, held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Machinery and equipment 10%-33%
Furniture, fixtures and

office equipment 20%-50%
Motor vehicles 10%-30%

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_—Z—NFNA=1+HILLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Leases
The Group as lessee
()  Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the
Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of
assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Lease payments (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(i) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases. At the
commencement of the lease term, a finance lease
is capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the
leased asset and the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at
the inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the statement of financial position as
finance lease payable. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charge and the
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the
same as owned assets over the shorter of the
lease term and their estimated useful lives.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #HE—=Z

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

Policy prior to 1 July 2018

In the comparative period, amounts received before
the related work was performed were presented as
“trade deposits received” under “Accruals, other
payables and trade deposits received”. These balances
have been reclassified as on 1 July 2018 as shown in
note 3.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

4.

90

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

(i)

)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are
measured subsequently in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
the following measurement category:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #HE—=Z

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

0

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group
(i.e. the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group) that
either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for
sale, and which represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is part
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate
major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the component meets the criteria to
be classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5, if earlier. It also occurs when the component is
abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a
single amount is presented in the statement of profit
or loss, which comprises:

— The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

— The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group
constituting the discontinued operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

4.

92

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(n)

(o)

(p)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED = ANNUAL REPORT 2019

4,

EXEFEE @)

(m) EMEERKRATA

(n)

(o)

(p)

TRABREATETRIEFET L
CAMRHZEERBBMBHRE
ZABETNERBEMATAZE
FENH o RART A THE AR E
FMERBERRASBEEETHAF
HED IMNaN  REEERE
BERBAT BEMTRM . &5 BERE
FIEAR e

BE

BENBRATENRFELRS
P TR S TINE { TIESY
MR B -

BRIEARSEE G EARMTHER - Al
BEMNEEIHRREREHHER
ELNEA BRBESBER/RY
BfE-

EZREMENRE

B MEMENRIBENGREAFE
R HRAAERAMN R IZEH
RAGHE - RIFRRREELTEX
FERERT - ARSI

RATHA

BARTERAEAREEIRERT
FRBERNEETHANRSER
MIEM K c KRB ETZBAT
AR B RATSF IR (R E & %17
PR NBE e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., ERSFBEER @)

(continued)

() Revenue recognition

() WARER

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Revenue from sales of leather products is recognised
when control of the products have transferred, being
when the products have been shipped to the
customer’s specific location (delivery). The customer
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the products, has the primary responsibility
when on selling the products and bears the risks of
obsolescence and loss in relation to the products. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the
products are delivered to the customer as this
represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from the provision of internet advertising
agency services and mobile payment technical support
services and the promotion of mobile game and related
services are recognised over the period in which the
services are performed representing the entity’s right
to consideration for the services performed to date.

Revenue from performance based advertisements is
recognised on a per-click basis when the users click on
the content for pay for click advertisements, or on a
per-display basis, when the advertising contents are
displayed to users for pay for instant display
advertisements.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

4.

94

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

() Revenue recognition (continued)

Policy prior to 1 July 2018

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities.

Revenue from the sales of manufactured goods and
trading of raw materials is recognised on the transfer
of significant risks and rewards of ownership, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered and the title has passed to the customers.

Revenue from the provision of internet advertising
agency services and mobile payment technical support
services are recognised as services are rendered.

Revenue from promotion of mobile game and related
services is recognised as services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r) Employee benefits

0]

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs and
involves the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

4.

96

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for
purpose to attract, retain and reward the eligible
persons and to provide the eligible persons an incentive
or reward for their contribution to the Group.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of
the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or,
if the fair value of the services rendered cannot be
reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the
date the Group receives the services and is recognised
as an expense.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #HE—=Z

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4.

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(u) Taxation (continued)

v)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to
which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the individual asset or the CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/
CGU whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated first against
the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the CGU. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE-ZT—hFENA=+tHIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on trade receivables. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using the probability of default, loss given
default and the exposure at default with reference to
the historical data of the market of the debtors’
industry. The loss allowance based on past due status
is further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that
will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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4.

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks
and other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(i) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

102

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over one to two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

104

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the
current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Policy prior to 1 July 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
assesses whether its financial assets (other than those
at fair value through profit or loss) are impaired, based
on objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition, the
estimated future cash flows of the (group of) financial
asset(s) have been affected.

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be
impaired individually, the Group assesses them
collectively for impairment, based on the Group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
delayed payments in the portfolio, observable changes
in economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is
directly reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the
amount of the impairment loss decreases in a
subsequent period and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed (either directly or by adjusting the
allowance account for trade receivables) through profit
or loss. However, the reversal must not result in a
carrying amount that exceeds what the amortised cost
of the financial asset would have been had the
impairment not been recognised at the date the
impairment is reversed.
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4.

106

—NERA=THLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(x)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position at
the end of the reporting period are adjusting events
and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgement that has the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance
equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for
stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when
its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a
significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the
credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the Group
takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward looking information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for the
Group's property, plant and equipment. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group
will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
as at 30 June 2019 was approximately HK$3,631,000
(2018: HK$5,747,000).
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5.

108

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The carrying amount of
goodwill at the end of the reporting period was
approximately HK$2,578,000 and no impairment loss
of was recognised during the year.

Impairment of trade receivables

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018, the
management of the Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any objective
evidence that trade receivables are impaired. The
provision policy for bad and doubtful debts of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and
aging analysis of accounts and on management'’s
judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of trade
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each customer. If the
financial conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowance may be
required.

As at 30 June 2018, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$226,434,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$4,657,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

Since the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based on
the credit risk of trade receivables. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. Where the future
cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances,
a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$113,508,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$27,973,000).

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is mainly subject to income tax in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income tax. There are
some transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the year in which such determination is made.

EEHER EEZMAE @)

HEF FREM 2 EERR (H)

(c)

(d)

—T-NEFERS - BERRARAR

EZRBWFERE (&)

B-Z-N\FLtA-BRMNETEY
BREEFEIRIAR - FEBERE
EBREEZREFENEERRMG
AHEZRERIAEREEEENR
BEERSHE RERHEEEEE
Bt EREBREBEERRESLD
ENASEMEGHRERERR
SEBHUBRZAEREREZH
M E B (I R R EE 2 8 WA
RALR)E - MAKRSREER
B IRFERBRE M N -
AT RE IR BARMERE

R-ZE—HAFEA=+H B5E
Wk TE R BRE{E A 113,508,000 78 7T
(Hf: R BB E 27,973,000 7T) ©

Frig ¥ RBEEH A

AEBET2AYNEELTEME
B BEMSRBERSAELERXR
Eat - REBXRBBEFAEET T
EEERETENR Z M HE - i
ZEFHEHNREMBEREBYARC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE—ZT—NWFNA=THILFE

110

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities, HK$, United States
dollars (“US$") and Renminbi (“RMB"). The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

As HK$ is pegged to US$, it is assumed that there
would be no material foreign exchange risk exposure
between US$ and HK$ and therefore US$ is excluded
from the analysis below.

As at 30 June 2019, if HK$ had weakened 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss before tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$8,570,000 higher (2018:
consolidated profit before tax would have been
HK$10,687,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of the
foreign exchange loss on trade and other receivables
denominated in RMB. If HK$ had strengthened 5%
against RMB with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss before tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$8,570,000 lower (2018:
consolidated profit before tax would have been
HK$10,687,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of
the foreign exchange gain on trade and other
receivables denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE-ZT—hFENA=+tHIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HBEEKREE(H)

(b) Credit risk (b) EERE

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is
exposed to credit risk from its operating activities
(primarily trade receivables) and from its financing
activities, including deposits with banks and financial
institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other
financial instruments. The Group's exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures
and control relating to customer credit risk
management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
0-60 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 3-6 months past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which
is calculated using the probability of default, loss given
default and the exposure at default with reference to
the historical data of the market of the debtors’
industry. The loss allowance based on past due status
is further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HHKERER @

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) FEER(E)

Trade receivables (continued) BSEWEIE (F)
TREINBEAAKER T —NF
NA=ZTHZESREFENEE
Rk FAHREEEEZER

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 30 June 2019:

Gross
carrying Loss
amount allowance

Average
expected
loss rate

BERE

IREAE BREE

112

%

HK$'000
T

HK$'000
TATT

Internet advertising EMPERERERE
agency services
Current (not past due) BNHER (k& H7) 1.14% 14,633 167
1 to 30 days past due BHE1E30H 1.26% 6,526 82
31 to 60 days past due #HI31 =60 H 1.33% 5,565 74
61 to 90 days past due #HI61E 90 H 1.02% 10,919 111
91 to 180 days past due #HA91 £ 180 H 1.01% 14,206 144
181 to 365 days past due wHI181 =365 H 2.62% 27,240 713
More than 365 days past due  #1HA365 HIA £ 2.20% 32,137 709
111,226 2,000
Mobile payment technical BEXAHMTXEF
support services R 7%
Current (not past due) BNER (R HR) - - -
1 to 30 days past due #EAI1ZE30H - - -
31 to 60 days past due #HEI31E60H - - -
61 to 90 days past due #1HI61E90H - - -
91 to 180 days past due #HI91 £ 180 H - - -
181 to 365 days past due #H181E 365 H 5.58% 4,535 253
More than 365 days past due  #Ei365 HIA 100% 25,720 25,720
30,255 25,973
Total st 141,481 27,973
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2019 #HE—=Z

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.
(b) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on the probability of
default, loss given default and the exposure at default
with reference to the historical date of the market of
the debtors’ industry. The loss allowance based on past
due status is further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.

Prior to 1 July 2018

Prior to 1 July 2018, an impairment loss was recognised
only when there was objective evidence of impairment.
At 30 June 2018, trade receivables of HK$4,657,000
was determined to be impaired. The aging analysis of
trade debtors that were not considered to be impaired
was as follows:

e ISR M EE

—NWEFEARNA=THIEEFE

B 75 LB R ()

(b) EERER (&)
EZRWE ()
BHEBRENE2ERBATED
BEEBBRRBRBEEORE - ELH
EBRIEDRREE - ERE BN

RBEEBERAEBETREFPE
R EE—TED -

R-FE—/NFLHA—HA

RZE-—NFEA—HA " BREE
BETAREBEZSERER - KX
“E-NFARAAZ=ZTH BEFEK

TXIE 4,657,000 8 T EE B B A /rJz
fﬁ WRARBENE S ERK
BRI ITERFIT :

AONRSS
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FET
Neither past due nor impaired AR BR TR R (E 75,227
1-30 days past due wHEI1=30H 67,236
31-60 days past due #mHI31E=60H 25,598
61-90 days past due #HI61 =90 H 41,750
91-180 days past due #HEI91 =180 H 15,483
181-365 days past due ®HEF181 =365 H 1,090
More than 365 days past due BmHEI365 H A £ 50
226,434

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired oK 380 HB I R (E 2 FE W SR IE T ER AT

related to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no impairment
allowance was necessary in respect of these balances
as there had been no significant change in credit
quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable.

—NEFERS

WY EEN R B TP AR -

B 8 H{E 3 R E 2 FEWRIR T /3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_—Z—NFNA=1+HILLFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. YKEREE @)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERBS(E)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWKE (&)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of FRNEBESEWRIEZ BEEE
trade receivables during the year is as follows: BREBHINT

At 30 June under HKAS 39 RANAZ+HIRERS

2018
—N\F

HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
TAIT

FETERAIE 395 4,657 -

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 é/Afﬁéf B TSRS A2

(note 3) F95 2 & (ME3) 3,344 -
Adjusted balance at 1 July KA —BREFHREER 8,001 =
Impairment losses recognised FHNERZREERE

for the year 22,332 4,747
Reversals el (1,847) -
Exchange differences M =5 (513) (90)
At 30 June RNA=+H 27,973 4,657
The following significant changes in the gross carrying —NEFE - B HRKFIEN R

amounts of trade receivables contributed to the
increase in the loss allowance during 2019:

— origination of new trade receivables net of those
settled resulted in an increase in loss allowance of
HK$23,316,000.

114  MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED » ANNUAL REPORT 2019

— HIEBEZHRWE

E%ﬁ%iuTiﬁﬁ@Eﬁ%E
B

KIA (HFRE &
BE) B e 1R & AR
23,316,000 87T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

All of the Group's deposits, prepayments and other
receivables are considered to have low credit risk, and
the allowance for impairment recognised during the
year was therefore limited to 12-month expected
losses. Management considers deposits, prepayments
and other receivables to be of low credit risk as they
have a low risk of default and the counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

The loss allowance for deposits, prepayments and
other receivables as at 30 June 2018 reconciles to the
opening loss allowance on 1 July 2018 and to the
closing allowance as at 30 June 2019 as follows:

Bt 75 R B B B (40
(b) FEEREE(E)

BT ANFEAREMERNE

AEBRBERE  ANREAKLEA
FEUGRIRIG AR S EAEEERR -
BN FAER 2 BEREERR12
EABEHERE - e - BNKA
N E A FE Y RIR 2 B R B
BSF T AREHABITEAHNR
EREETZARDENE  BEE
AR IR S « TN IR N E At FE MR
HZEERBRRE -

RZZE-N\FERNA=1+H &&
B R IR Ko H A e WK IR 2 s 18 R
BE—_FT—\FLtA-BZFINE
BREN_ZT-NAFANA=THEHZ

FREHBHEWOT ¢

Deposits,
prepayments
and other
receivables

g A U

RERHAM
FE WK IR
HK$'000
TAIT

At 30 June 2018 under HKAS 39 RZZE—N\FARAA=ZTHRBREES
BETERIFE 3955 =
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 (note 3) & XJE A& A BRELER|E 95

278 (MEE3) 2,296

Adjusted balance at 1 July 2018 (restated) RIE—NF+A—HEARLES

(&%) 2,296
Impairment losses recognised for the year FABRZREBE 14,449
Exchange difference EH Z5E (239)
At 30 June 2019 RZZE-NFRA=+H 16,506

MRE ZEWRGRIBRRE 2 26.9% (=
T—NA\F:31.1%) %59.0% (==
—N\F :703%) DRl BEKRAEE
BABEPRAARERF ZHIE - A
SEEHEESERRRZIBR

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 26.9%
(2018: 31.1%) and 59.0% (2018: 70.3%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

—T-NFFEERS - SRERERAA 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

6.

116

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities is as follows:

6.

B 7% B B T (1)
(c) HRBELRK

AEBNBRSERERRE LA
HRBESFERLNEREBERTE
HeREneEBHERMRSE

AEEFTEEBEBRETHR
MEBRSREZIHADFTET

On demand Between Between
or less than 1and 2 2and5 Carrying
1 year years years Total amount
F1ER 1828 2E5% H REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT  TAR
At30June2019 R-B-NE
~B=ZtH
Trade payables ~ ZZER B 38,403 - - - 38,403 38,403
Accruals and ST B AR A
other payables e 6,351 - - - 6,351 6,351
Amountdueto  FER—ZREFE
a shareholder 247 - - - 247 247
Borrowings (note) £ & (fif3) 14,789 170 - - 14,959 14,692
At30June 2018 RZE-)N\F
NA=TH
Trade payables ~ Z5ENFE 79,651 - - - 79,651 79,651
Accruals and B ERREM
other payables [EN B 14,082 - - - 14,082 14,082
Amountdueto  ERN—&RETIE
a shareholder 58,559 - - - 58,559 58,559
Finance lease ERNMERETE
payables 199 199 148 - 546 506
Note: HE3E -

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
‘on demand or less than 1 year’ time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 30 June 2019, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amounts of these borrowings amounted to HK$7,809,000. Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
believe that such borrowings will be repaid within 1 to 5 months after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
HK$7,819,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates
to variable-rate bank loans and bank deposits. The
pledged bank deposits, loans receivable and other
borrowings bear interests at fixed interest rates and
therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risks.
The United States dollar denominated bank loans and
other bank deposits bear interests at variable rates that
vary with the then prevailing market condition.

At 30 June 2019, if interest rates had been 10 basis
points lower with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would have
been HK$13,000 lower (2018: consolidated profit after
tax for the year would have been HK$27,000 higher),
arising mainly as a net result of lower interest expense
on bank loans, bank deposits and fixed pledged bank
deposits. If interest rates had been 10 basis points
higher, with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would have
been HK$13,000 higher (2018: consolidated profit
after tax for the year would have been HK$27,000
lower), arising mainly as a net result of higher interest
expense on bank loans, bank deposits and fixed
pledged bank deposits.

Categories of financial instruments at 30 June

ETREE

Financial assets:
Financial assets measured at

6. YKEREE @)

(d)

(e)

WA EZ S REE

A == = B

AREEBZRSRENKRERET2HE
TR RBITERRBITEREM -
EEIFRITER  BREREE M
EEREEMNERFTE  AME&EA
FEMEXER - AXITAHEMNRTT
ERREMIRITFRIZEERRT
MRMEE 2 FBMRETE o

RZZE—NAFARNA=1TH " "X
TEE10MEEE - ma s E A= 28k
BAE  FAKRBRES BB
213,000 7L (= F— //\F : BREiE
iR e RN E 27,0008 7T) - £ 2
RRRITERFBAX - RITFER
KBl E B R RTT 7 TR D B3 A
R WX EF10EEE - 2
H i B BARFT A& - FRARRIRER
& E1EKIEI 13,0008 T (ZE—N\
F o BRR &R A A R 4> 27,000
BIL) TEARRTERFEH
X ROIGFAREEESEMBEITE
FIEINEFGER ©

RAR=tHZEMIAZSE

2019
el

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
FET

amortised cost 186,088 -
Loans and receivables (including ERREWFIE(BERE R

cash and cash equivalents) REFEY) - 348,950
Financial liabilities: cRAas:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ IZEE KA EZ 2RI B & 59,464 152,798
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. YKEREE @)
() Fair values n 2¥EE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets RESTBRARARB 2 REE
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated THEERERABCREMERER
statement of financial position approximate their EBZAFERE -

respective fair values.

7. REVENUE 7. WA
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by FR BREBEGIRBESNRKEFE
major products or service line for the year from continuing KR 7 EEEHADIFNT ¢

operations is as follows:

2019 AONRSS
—E—-h#F —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET
Revenue from contracts with REZERIRBEE &S
customers within the scope of ZEBUEBREERE 155
HKFRS 15 disaggregated by HERNZEFEHWA
major products or service lines
Internet advertising agency services B ESRIERE 270,629 470,344
Mobile payment technical support services # &3z 15 B i 2 435 AR 765 100 55,997
270,729 526,341
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

REVENUE (continued) 7. WA &)
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and AREBIZATEEERIE B Kb IE BB
services over time in the following major product lines and LT M ARIS TS A

geographical regions:

Internet advertising agency  Mobile payment technical

For the year ended BEXA=TH
30 June I:3:5 =

services support services Total

ERPRERERS BBX AN SRS -
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
g-7F -2\ Z®-hE -3\ ZE-AE -3 F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Primary geographical T EHEMS
markets

TR TEn  TER  TAn AR TAn

— The PRC —h 218,710 370,457 100 55,997 218,810 426,454
— Hong Kong — &% 51,919 99,887 - - 51,919 99,887
Segment revenue AEBA 270,629 470,344 100 55,997 270,729 526,341
Intersegment revenue S EEUKA - - - - - -
Revenue from RESMNIE P
external customers WA 270,629 470,344 100 55,997 270,729 526,341
Timing of revenue WARREE
recognition
Services transferred FERREY 2 R
over time 270,629 470,344 100 55,997 270,729 526,341
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the AEBCHERKARFEEEERASTEM
cumulative effect method. Under this method, the BMELERFEIS5H - BEZHE - &
comparative information is not restated and was prepared in BRI EES - MEREE LSS ERE

accordance with HKAS 18 and HKAS 11.

18 BB ERIFE 11 5RRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_—Z—NFNA=1+HILLFE
8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS/(LOSSES) 8. HgA - W (FE)
2019 AONRSS
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Continuing operations FEREEK
Interest income on bank deposits fETTT K2 EMA 141 511
Interest income on loans receivable FEWE R 2 F B WA 1,673 -
Exchange gain/(loss), net I:R%Z 5/ (F518) F58 581 (6)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, HEMB ARz W T E
net (note 35(b) and (c)) (Pt 3% 35(b) % (0)) = 109
Sponsorship income from REEEBHEBRA
an exhibition event 522 -
Sundry income ESSET N 175 13
3,092 627

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has two operating segments as follows:

Internet advertising agency services
BB B & IR AR TS

Mobile payment technical support services

B S N 1l S H5 BR 75

9. DIER
REBBEEUTRELLE DL

included promotion of online game and etc.

REHEEBEESCOERE (R EER LEERE)

PR RS B) ST N B0 ST 15 AR

provision of internet advertising agency services which

provision of mobile payment technical support services

120

The operation of leather business was discontinued during
the current year. The segment information reported does
not include any amounts for this discontinued operation,
which are described in more detail in note 15.

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different
technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include other income, gains/(losses) and unallocated
corporate expenses. Segment assets do not include
unallocated bank and cash balances and unallocated
deposits, prepayments and other receivables. Segment
liabilities do not include unallocated accruals and other
payables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9. HEER(#)
The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as AEEB O EBEHEE NEREARRE M
if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current WMIRERTISERME=FHENER -

market prices.

FRARBRFESEERR 2L D IMEF
HER BEERABEZER

Information about operating segment profit or loss,
assets and liabilities from continuing operations:

Mobile
Internet payment
advertising technical
agency support
services services Total
Year ended 30 June 2019 BE—-—Z—h&F EHAES BEIZAHEN
ANRA=ZTHLEE R332 AR % X R et
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
F&T FET FHExT
Revenue N 270,629 100 270,729
Cost of services AR AR AR (229,426) (693) (230,119)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(E8) 41,203 (593) 40,610
Selling and distribution HERDIHAX
expenses (2,961) (305) (3,266)
Administrative expenses ITHHEX (28,448) (1,599) (30,047)
Net impairment losses on 2 5 & H Ath R Y GRIE &Y
trade and other receivables EEEFRE (11,925) (22,977) (34,902)
Segment results DEPHELE (2,131) (25,474) (27,605)
Other income, gains/(losses)  E AU A ~ Wz, (E518) 3,092
Net impairment losses on H At EU IR R R E
other receivables EEFHE (32)
Unallocated corporate TP oEEMPEERE
expenses (10,466)
Loss before tax M I 18 (35,011)

T NERES

R « BEEREGRAT
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about operating segment profit or loss,
assets and liabilities from continuing operations:
(continued)

9. ZHMER @

FEARERFESEERR 2 KL D IMEF
HER BEERABZER  (A)

Mobile
Internet payment
advertising technical
agency support
services services Total
Year ended 30 June 2018 HE—-F—N\F BEHREES BRI
(re-presented) ANA=tTHLEEE(ER) RIBARTS X FF R FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATT T TFETT
Revenue WA 470,344 55,997 526,341
Cost of services AR SRR AR (261,724) (7,711) (269,435)
Gross profit EF 208,620 48,286 256,906
Selling and distribution HERDHEBEX
expenses (4,995) (746) (5,741)
Administrative expenses ITHHEX (15,773) (594) (16,367)
Impairment losses on trade B 5 W GRIE R EE R
receivables (1,588) (3,154) (4,742)
Segment results DEREELE 186,264 43,792 230,056
Other income, gains/(losses)  H AU A - Wk~ (E518) 627
Unallocated corporate PP HEENRERX
expenses (18,788)
Profit before tax MR R BT % 211,895
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9. DEBER ()

FEARBRFEKSEERR 2 KL D IWEF
FER BEERABEZER  (A)

Information about operating segment profit or loss,
assets and liabilities from continuing operations:

(continued)

Internet
advertising
agency

services
EMBEES
RER%
HK$'000
FHT

Mobile
payment
technical

support
services
BRI H i
T ER%
HK$'000
FAT

Total

Y
HK$'000
TAT

Year ended 30 June 2019 BE-Z-h&X~A=1H
LEE
Additions to segment RESDERBEE
non-current assets 582 60 642
Depreciation TE 1,115 158 1,273
Year ended 30 June 2018 HE-_Z-NEA=1H
H5E
Additions to segment REDHIERBEE
non-current assets 4183 906 5,089
Depreciation nE 791 65 856

Internet
advertising
agency

services
EHRES
REBRH%E
HK$'000
TAT

Mobile
payment
technical

support
services

BRI HEM
YERE
HK$'000
TAT

At 30 June 2019 R-B-REXA=1H
Segment assets PEEE 270,034 9,749 279,783
Segment liabilities SBEE 68,032 1,822 69,854
At 30 June 2018 RZZ—AFANA=TH
Segment assets DEEE 340,081 48,428 388,509
Segment liabilities DEfafE 125,486 1,962 127,448

T NERES

R « BEEREGRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_—Z—NFNA=1+HILLFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9. HEER(#)
Reconciliations of segment revenue and profit or REFELCEER 2 BB R RIBHZ
loss from continuing operations: HER :
2019 AONRSS
—EB-hF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FEBT
Revenue WA
Total revenue of reportable segments A] 2R BRAEU A 270,729 526,341
Elimination of intersegment revenue 3 BRI A 8H - -
Consolidated revenue ZEE A 270,729 526,341
Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities: PHEEREBZHE
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AI2Wmo A EERE 279,783 388,509
Assets relating to discontinued operation ERE 4R |F4E L EKBBE BEE - 29,183
Unallocated corporate assets N FOEEMNTEEE 8,868 13,915
Consolidated total assets e BERE 288,651 431,607
Liabilities =N
Total liabilities of reportable segments 2RO EBERSE 69,854 127,448
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation B2 2 4% |4 & 2751808 2 B (& - 35,957
Unallocated corporate liabilities N FOENTEERE 8,932 7,025
Consolidated total liabilities e RERRE 78,786 170,430
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e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9. oHERE)
Information about major customers EBRETEEZEFNER
Revenues from external customers contributing over 10% of RAFE  HAEERWAEREI0% 2
the total revenue of the Group during the year are as KEINLELHWALT -
follows:
2019 AONRSS
—E—-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
From continuing operations REFESEER
Internet advertising agency services BB REERIE RS
Customer A ZEA 509 102,887
Customer B ZFEB 101,357 57,111
Geographical information b 33 &
The Group's revenue from external customers by location of AEBZREEMEMEID 2 RBINDEP
operations and information about its non-current assets by WA RIREEFREMEI D 2 IERBE E
location of assets are detailed below: ZEIBIATE

Revenue Non- current assets
L ON FRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018

—2-hE —T)\F =B—hE —“T)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz Tt FEx TET

From continuing operations 2 B 5 & K& £ 7%

The PRC =8, 218,810 426,454 5,937 7,683
Hong Kong 55 51,919 99,887 239 418

United States of America EMEBRERE([FEH])
(the "USA") - - 33 -
270,729 526,341 6,209 8,101
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10.

11.

126

FINANCE COSTS 10. BAESRR A
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&TT
Continuing operations BESEEK
Finance lease charges MEMERK 33 U
Interest on bank loans RITEFF B 420 =
Interest on other borrowings HEMEEF B 173 =
626 7
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FAEHMAX

Income tax relating to continuing operations has been
recognised in profit or loss as following:

HERE XA ASHERBRA

BRI -

2019 2018
—g-nE —T-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Current income tax: BIHAFT/SHY -

Hong Kong Profits Tax EFEEFERH 1,879 7,269
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EE TSR = 445
1,879 7,714

QOver-provision in prior years: BT E SRR -
Hong Kong Profits tax BEBENEH (19) -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B {b TS H (70) -
(89) -
Income tax expenses TSR 2 1,790 7,714
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ISR R MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate of 16.5%
(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the
year ended 30 June 2019.

On 21 March 2018, the Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7)
Bill 2017, which introduces a two-tiered profits tax regime,
was substantively enacted. Under the two-tiered profits tax
regime, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25% with effect
from the year assessment 2018/2019. Profits above HK$2
million will continue to be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of
25% (2018: 25%).

Pursuant to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Enterprise Income Tax Policies for
Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region and Xinjiang Kashgar
Autonomous Region ((BFENER ~ BRI ISE R BR =R
ERRATMER R BEFRERCEMENRERBRNBAN))
promulgated by the State Council on 29 November 2011, if a
corporate enterprise is newly established within calendar years
2010 to 2020 in two specific regions with business fallen in the
scope of the Catalogue of Preferred Enterprise Income Tax for
Key Encouraged Industries in Poor Areas of Xinjiang (#7152 &
BEWRBEHZBMBEREECEMBGHEE B )), the
corporate enterprise can enjoy a preferential treatment of
5-year exemption from the first year when the entity begins to
generate revenue. 2 B R8T B L{E BB AR A A (Horgos
Sifan Information Technology Limited (“Horgos Sifan”)), 2 &
RETBEBAEERHEABR A A (Horgos Xiangjiao Chaoren
Information Technology Limited (“Horgos Xiangjiao”)) and &
B 3R A 5B 49 48 BB R 2 7 (Horgos Dongrun Network
Technology Limited (“Horgos Dongrun”)) are exempted from
income tax from calendar years 2017 to 2020 upon approval
by the State Taxation Bureau of the Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region in 2017.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

11.

—TE-NEFERE « EEEKARATA

FRriSHiBa % (&)

EENEGERIREBE_Z-NEA=T
B F R A RRTENIZ16.5% (=
T—\F : 16.5%) 2T RFHERA

(ZE—EERBUER]) (B75) FHIE
EIR_E-NF=A-_+—HEELH
o WEESI ARG RMEF - REFE
BRAs BT N\FE/ ZT-NEFR
MEEZRR > &R AR EZE 2,000,000
BITERBUE N 2 K 58.25% © BB
2,000,000 7 7T F& 3R Tt ) A3 2R 2 16.5%
ZTAR B

FRAERMAEHE25%(ZFT—N\F:
25%) Z P REHE B -

BERERER —_E—F+—A=-1+NH
REMECITIES - IR BRRBEN =
X2 R R A B R R A E R B AT
SREZHENBRA)  MABDERB
FEEwENEF - E—TFE_T_F
FHEKY - BEBBCGhIERE N ES
BEEREEXCEMGHEREH)E®
E - A RFETRNERAREERARN
EF—FHREZESERHERE - ERRHE
REEREERAR(ERRHTBALLD -
ERRITEEBAGEREBRARI(E
BMEHBE | MNERRIT R BREEESE
RAR([ERRITRBD RS —FE
FEEETRE AR BRER BEF
CE—+EE T - TE R BN
FriSHi o

RE i[5 B &SR B A 2 AR IBE A SR =
EEBRRNRAED - 2B REM - &
EHRIRITREAEBIAH o
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_—Z—NFNA=1+HILLFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. FiiSHB X (|

BARGABER ARSI R
BRFRAT (E518), B RIRAFT SR R 2 78

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the income

tax rate applicable to respective tax jurisdictions is as follows:

(Loss)/profit before tax

ROEERANT -

2019
el

HK$'000
FET

B (B51R), i A

2018

—=-)\%

HK$'000
TATT

(from continuing operations) (kB EREETR) (35,011) 211,895
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to  IZEANE AR IE A AR

respective tax jurisdictions HMEAENTIE (1,312) 50,614
Tax effect of income that is not taxable ~ B/ERRUA 2 BifE & (93) (3,698)
Tax effect of expenses that are not PRIMBRZ 2 B2

deductible 2,825 2,306
Over-provision in prior years BT EBRERE (89) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTRIEER 2RI E 5,957 3,991
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses FABAWRER L

previously not recognised TMIBEE I RIETE (35) -
Effect of tax concession REEREzwE (5.463) (45,499)
Income tax expenses FrS iR

(relating to continuing operations) (Eﬁ?iﬁ““i“‘ £ TS HERE) 1,790 7,714

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM 12. FRABELLEK (FE),BF

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

AEEBZ FRFELLER (BER), &R
Tha&HBR (BT A) A TR IBEFIBRIT ¢

The Group's (loss)/profit for the year from continuing
operations is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

2019 2018

—ZE-hF —ZT-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FATT

Auditors’ remuneration ZE R & 1,250 1,300
Depreciation e 1,477 942
Exchange (gain)/loss, net fE X (W) EEFE (581) 6

Operating lease rentals in respect of YEKLEHERS
properties 9,386 7,820
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BER

plant and equipment Rz EiE 724 49
Net impairment losses on trade and B 5 R E M EWRIE
other receivables BB 34,934 4,742
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

BERMFHEX > :

Employee benefits expense*:

13. EERAEX

2019 2018

—2_nfF —T)\F

HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
TATT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ TEAL NOERL 29,099 30,205
Retirement benefit scheme contributions B4R FI| =t 2 2k 4,811 4,202
33,910 34,407

* Included in cost of sales for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018
were staff costs of approximately HK$6,072,000 and HK$9,244,000
respectively.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included two (2018: two) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in note 14. The
emoluments of the remaining three individuals (2018: three
individuals) are set out below:

* HE-_Z-NER-_ZT—N\FAA=1TALFE
ERHEEKRARTEE TKAS 546,072,000
I 9,244,000 7T

EEBRSHAL

RAFER  AEENAEZRSHEALE
BERE(CE—\F MB)EF KEZ
e RN 14259 A - B
BEHB(ZT—N\F : =R) AL Z2HMS
FIanR

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZT—)\4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Salaries and other emoluments FeREMINE 925 1,355
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 7,616 5,724
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R {K1EFIETH 24t 2k 28 44
8,569 7,123

The emoluments fell within the following band:

HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000
HK$4,000,001-HK$4,500,000

1,500,001 78 JL = 2,000,000 8 7T
2,000,001 % 7C % 2,500,000 7 7T
2,500,001 /& 7T £ 3,000,000 77T
3,000,001 /% 7C = 3,500,000 7 7T
4,000,001 77T ZE 4,500,000, 7T

BRAFBEE N IA TEE -

Number of individuals

BEAH

2019
—E-hF

2018
—T-N\F

O T =Y
I_\I_\_\

—T-NEFERS - BERRARAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14. EEEARER

(@) Directors’ emoluments (@ EE=#ME
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BEEENMEET WO
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Salaries retirement
Director's and benefit Housing
fee allowances scheme allowance
EEEK
BRI E
Name of Director EEZHE HeREW R FEEZE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT THERT
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (note ()) ~ RBEL4 (HIEEG) - 1,963 114 = 2,077
Ms. Wang Fei (note (vii)) F 3L (a5 (vii)) - 2,032 167 = 2,199

Ms. Tian Yuan (note (iv)) Bz 1 (F 3 (v) = - - - -

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Chong Ka Yee (note (viil) 53278 5% A& (B (viii)) - 167 - - 167
Independent non-executive B3I FHTES

Directors
Ms. Ji Fang (note (xi) 15 22 (BTEE (xii)) - 90 - - 90
Ms. Chen Feng PRiEz+

(note (ix)and (xi)) (PHEE (ix) B2 (xi)) - 90 - - 90
Mr. Gao Shuo (note (ix)) =R S (M (X)) - 180 - = 180
Mr. Chen Ce (note (x)) PRI ST (M EE (x) - 180 = = 180
Total for 2019 —E-hEFEHAG - 4,702 281 = 4,983
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14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14, EEEAR#ERE (@)

(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) ESENE (&)
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Salaries retirement
Director's and benefit Housing
fee allowances scheme allowance
EERIK
’raﬂ.ﬁr?J
Name of Director B2 FHelEh L3 FEEE,
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' OOO HK$'000
TAT THT FAT FAT
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun REBLAE
(note (i) and (xiii)) (Pf 3 ) B (xiii)) = 2,400 = = 2,400
Ms. Wang Fei (note (vi) F et (B3 i) = 1,814 131 = 1,945
Ms. Tian Yuan (note (iv)) AR 2 (i 3E (v) = - = - .
Mr. Tang Yau Sing (note (i) B8/ 5% A& (M3 (i) - 820 7 400 1,227
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Shao Zuosheng (note (iii) ~ BRYEAE 5 4 (B &E (i) - 5 - - 5
Mr. Chong Ka Yee (note (viii))  §t 5278 50 4 (FT3E (viii)) - 136 - = 136
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chui Man Lung Everett X EELAE
(note (v)) (=T () - 150 4 = 154
Mr. Cheung Kam Tong REFEAE
Antonio (note (v)) (BEE(v)) - 150 4 = 154
Mr. Han Chu (note (vi)) BR A (W) - 150 2 = 152
Ms. Chen Feng (note (ix)) PR 2 (P& (ix)) - 136 = = 136
Mr. Gao Shuo (note (ix)) =S4 (i (X)) - 136 - - 136
Mr. Chen Ce (note (x)) PR A (M EE (X)) - 90 = = 90
Total for 2018 —E-\EEEs = 5,987 148 400 6,535
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14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

132

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(i)

(xii)

(xiii)

Mr. Zhu Yongjun resigned as the chief executive officer of the
Company on 5 September 2017.

Mr. Tang Yau Sing resigned as an executive director on 3
November 2017.

Mr. Shao Zuosheng resigned as a non-executive director on 28
July 2017.

Ms. Tian Yuan was appointed as an executive director on 28
July 2017.

Mr. Cheung Kam Tong Antonio and Mr. Chui Man Lung
Everett resigned as independent non-executive directors on 1
January 2018.

Mr. Han Chu resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 1 January 2018.

Ms. Wang Fei was appointed as an executive director and the
chief executive officer of the Company on 5 September 2017.

Mr. Chong Ka Yee was appointed as a non-executive director
on 6 November 2017 and resigned as a non-executive director
on 4 June 2019.

Ms. Chen Feng and Mr. Gao Shuo were appointed as
independent non-executive directors on 6 November 2017.

Mr. Chen Ce was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 1 January 2018.

Ms. Chen Feng resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 1 January 2019.

Ms. Ji Fang was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 1 January 2019.

Mr. Zhu Yongjun waived his fixed bonus of approximately
HK$511,000 of the Company for the calendar year 2017.

During the years, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.
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14. EETA R ER (&)

(a)

EE=ME (8

BE -

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

KREBEEEER T tFNARBEHME
RATITHARE, -

BEREER _ZT—tF+—A=HE
ERTES -

EEEER_T—tFELA-1+/\R
BHEIEITES -

HEZTR-_ZT—+tF+A=-+\BE
ZERBPITES -

RERAERBGIEAER_T—N\F
—A—BHBEBIERITES -

BREEER_T—N\F—A—BHTE
SIFITES -

FHELIN_E—LFNARREZE
REARBRITEERITHAER °

ERRLAR-E—E+—AAEE
EEAENTES  THR-F—AFA
AMEBHIIHTES -

BREALZETRSEEER -T—LF+—
RARBEZRERBIIFNTES -

BREEENR T N\F—A-HEZRE
RBIIIFHITES -

R Z TR =B —hF— A —HEHESE
STIEHITES -

A LER T -NE—-A—REZE
RBIIFRITEE -

KBEERACHERBEF T —tFM
AR B W ELE FEFEAL4Y 511,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14. EERENRER (&)
(continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (b) EERXS  RHIEHNFHEK
arrangements or contracts ER
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts AR B A SF AERIRE
in relation to the Group's business to which the MEFTEAREBEKEBAM AR
Company was a party and in which a director of the AIARARARIEENEEHEE A
Company and the director’s connected party had a BEEEIEBEEARR IEAR
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 5 THREHA -
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 15. BRIEREEK
On 18 February 2019, the Company entered into a sale and RZE—NF=-ZA+/N\B  KRFFIMNE
purchase agreement to dispose of Odella International St WHEHETAER —VYIN EEK
Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Odella”), which carried out #& & 7 Odella International Limited 5 £ Bt
all of the Group'’s leather business operation. Details of the BAR([0dellal) - HEEEKGEMF
assets and liabilities disposed of, and the calculation of the AR EEER 2 E A AR FE35@)
profit or loss on disposal, are disclosed in note 35(a). HEE o
2019 AONES]
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Profit for the year from discontinued FRERIERERTB 28
operation:
Revenue PN 37,219 60,448
Cost of sales HEK A (24,509) (41,994)
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD HEAY (1,110) (2,167)
Administrative expenses THRX (14,019) (15,488)
Net impairment losses on trade and B 5 KA b R IR RE
other receivables BRI (640) (5)
Other income, gains/(losses) HagA -~ et (E518) 940 59
(Loss)/profit before tax BELRT (E18), 8 F (2,119) 853
Income tax expense FriS i 5 2 (10) (454)
(2,129) 399
Gain on disposal of operation (note 35(a)) Hi% %¥7% 2 Y28 (Ff5E 35(a)) 2,324 -
Income tax expense FrE iR - i
Profit for the year from discontinued FADRILBLER RN
operation (attributable to owners (RAREE AEG)
of the Company) 195 399

—E-NEFERE - BE2ERAREAT 133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

15. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

Profit for the year from discontinued

operation include the following: BETHEE :

FRAER IR E R R A

15. DR IEKEER (&)

2019
el

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
FET

Depreciation* P& * 168 145
Auditor’s remuneration % AN B 4 - 100
Cash flows from discontinued operation: KB B K FEEEBHIRSRE ¢
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from KEEHELAZRE

operating activities A (i) F 58 21,178 (18,502)
Net cash outflows from investing activities & & FEEA IR & mE F58 (403) (72)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from BB EHELA IS

financing activities G,/ A (18,626) 19,674
Net cash inflows WEMAFHE 2,149 1,100
&3 Included in cost of sales for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018 3 BE_Z—NFER_ZFE-—\FRA=Z+HLHF

were depreciation charge of approximately HK$71,000 and
HK$53,000 respectively.

16. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any dividend for the years
ended 30 June 2019 and 2018.

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

16.

17.

R HERA BRI EER D HIX71,000/8
7L} 53,0008 7T ©

9=

EETEBRNBE_ZT-NAFER=-F
—NFRA=TALFEZEMRE -

SR (E18)&F

RARER AREESRER(BER) &R
THRE T Y BB S -

RADEE
ARG ESRER

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating
basic (loss)/earnings per share

I F I £

(B18), BFz &ak

400,000 400,000

134  MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED » ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 17. SR (B1E) B (5
From continuing and discontinued operations REEELEERROCRIEREEK
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share KATEE NEEGIRERN (EE) BT
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the THiRIE T A K IEEHE -
following:
2019 AONRSS
—E—-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET
(Loss)/profit (E8), &R
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of calculating IR st EFRRERN (Ei8)
basic (loss)/earnings per share Bz (E8), % F (36,606) 199,455
From continuing operations REFERKEXER
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share REFBEEERBLIARRRR ARIGS
attributable to the owners of the Company from continuing RER(EE) BFHIRE T3 & E
operations is based on the following: B
2019 2018
—E—-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(Loss)/profit (E518) %%
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of calculating FRETEFRER (BE),/
basic (loss)/earnings per share BHz (EE), J&F (36,801) 199,056
The weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used as R BEEREAREERNERESI T2
denominators in calculating the basic and diluted earnings TR NE T EURAER -
per share are the same.
From discontinued operation RECKRIEREER
Basic and diluted earnings per share from the discontinued BERARBER AEEFRNB R ILLE?
operation is HK0.05 cents per share (2018: HK0.10 cents per 7% A1 49 195,000 T (ZZF—\F : 4
share), based on the profit for the year from discontinued 399,000 7T) 5 E - KB ERILK SRR
operation attributable to the owners of the Company of W EREARREE R AEAR0.058ML(=
approximately HK$195,000 (2018: approximately T—N\F: 0108 M)  MEBRER
HK$399,000) and the denominators used are the same as NEERNMAS HREZER EXFFilE
those detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings per MR o
share.
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

136

18. W% - MERRHE

Furniture,
fixtures Machinery
Motor and office and Leasehold
vehicles equipment equipment improvements
Bl £BR
"E WAERE BERRE HEWERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FTAL
Cost 22
At 1 July 2017 R_Z—+FtHA—H 215 1,734 568 628 3,145
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE — R B A A
(note 35(d)) (FizE35(d)) - 803 - - 803
Additions NE 4,696 492 - - 5,188
Disposals of subsidiaries HENRBAT
(note 35(b)) (M 35(b)) - (65) - - (65)
Disposals HeE - (79) = = (79)
Exchange differences ME N ZR (82) (21 7 3 (93)
At 30 June 2018 and RZE-N\ERA=FTHR
1 July 2018 —E-N\FtA—H 4,829 2,864 575 631 8,899
Additions NE 140 304 17 642 1,103
Disposals of subsidiaries HEMB AR
(note 35(a)) (Bf5E35(a)) (263) (1,267) (592) (534) (2,656)
Disposals & (925) (95) - (330) (1,350)
Exchange differences PE 3 Z%R (173) (55) = (4) (232)
At 30 June 2019 RZE-NEFERA=1H 3,608 1,751 - 405 5,764
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At 1 July 2017 RZF—+tF+HA—H 129 1,109 379 325 1,942
Charge for the year FRBR 294 794 58 110 1,256
Disposals of subsidiaries HEMRBRE
(note 35(b)) (3£ 35(b)) - (14) - - (14)
Disposals k= - (30) - - (30)
Redlassification BEMOE 36 (36) - - -
Exchange differences B H =T (6) (5) 6 3 )
At 30 June 2018 and RZE-NERA=THR
1July 2018 “T-\FtA—H 453 1,818 443 438 3,152
Charge for the year FERHKR 904 528 49 164 1,645
Disposals of subsidiaries HEMB AR
(note 35(a)) (Pt7E35()) (138) (1,162) (485) (349) (2,134)
Disposals HE (232) (44) - (193) (469)
Exchange differences M =R (18) (32) @) (4) (61)
At 30 June 2019 RZE-NERA=TH 969 1,108 - 56 2,133
Carrying amount HREE
At 30 June 2019 RZZ-AEA=+H 2,639 643 - 349 3,631
At 30 June 2018 RZZE—N\EFERA=1H 4,376 1,046 132 193 5,747
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19. GOODWILL

19. &

2019 AONES]
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
Cost and carrying amount BARREE

At 1 July REA—H 2,678 153

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries W B AREE
(note 35(d)) (Pt 3E 35(d)) - 2,521
Exchange differences ME 5, HE (100) 4
At 30 June RAXA=+H 2,578 2,678

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill
(other than goodwill relating to discontinued operation) had
been allocated as follows:

Internet advertising agency services:
FINE DR AR A F) (Shenzhen Al

Wan Yue Company Limited (T2t )

EBEHMESZAERNKWBERENEE
BB ERZEHEH REELE
i - B (AAERLEEEXB AER
SN 2 FREER D BECIAT ¢

2019
—E-AEF

2018
—EN\F
HK$°000
TATT

HK$'000
FiE%

B RS IR

ARINZTUR AR AR

("Ai Wan Yue")) 154 157
ERREEHRIEAERAF IERREEBREERAF
(Beijing Dongrun Hudong Technology ((REE#H])
Limited (“Dongrun Hudong")) 2,424 2,521
2,578 2,678

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
on the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and turnover during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGUs
operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

—T-NEFERS - BERRARAR

AeEEEUMRKE SRR RARRIRIR
SREFREAEBEELEE - MBEBRS
MEBENEEZRBRIENARNEIREK 17
RERBEEMNRLRERENRRK - A%
B R A R A R AR ETRE IR R - L F A
KRRERTMSHERRHREERREE
B E ARG o BRETIERR
TELBEUREXHAELRARERFH
RERRE - BEENERERBILIER
BEBH REHHERANTEH
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19.

20.

138

GOODWILL (continued)

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for
the next five years with the residual period using the growth
rate of 3% (2018: 1%). This rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the
Group's internet advertising agency services is 20% (2018:
20%).

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 30 June 2019 are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Particular of

Name operation issued share capital

SRR
REREhE

£
(note a)

(FfizEa)

ERTRAHR

United Mutual Holdings Republic of US$100 (Ordinary share capital)
Limited (“United Mutual”) Seychelles

United Mutual Holdings EEMANE 100X (EEBA)
Limited ([ United Mutual])

Right Fortress Limited Hong Kong HK$1 (Ordinary share capital)

EREBRAA Bt 1T (BERE)

Million Stars (HK) Hong Kong HK$1 (Ordinary share capital)
Investments Limited

ENE(BB)RERFRLR &R 1T (BRRE)

Million Stars Internet Hong Kong HK$1 (Ordinary share capital)
Media Limited

EERREEER AT B BT (B@RA)

Jade King Investment Hong Kong HK$1 (Ordinary share capital)
Limited

ERREARAR £33 BT (BRRA)

MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED = ANNUAL REPORT 2019

19.

20.

[5E- ¢ )

ASREREEF SN ERN AR R FI
BRERRAESAERA - FAMERA
3% HPERE(ZF—\F 1 1%) o &R
WA T SRR R R -

FAABRIR R B A B B B A8 B & R I IR 7%
MFERREREMNEEA20% (ZZE—N
F:20%) °

RBARZ2RE

W=E—hEAAZ+H  HBATNS
W :

Proportion of
ownership interest/
voting rights/profit

sharing
RERER RERE/
FE {5 7 E
Direct Indirect

B B

Principal activities

FERE

100% - Investment holding
100% — BEAZR

- 100%  Administrative
for the group
- 100% SETHER
- 100%  Investment holding

- 100% REER

- 100%  Internet advertising
agency services

- 100% BHERSRERE

- 100%  Investment holding

- 100% REER
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. AHMBEARZIRE (8)

Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest/
registration and Particular of voting rights/profit
EN operation issued share capital sharing Principal activities

MR ERR REEER RER/
£5 R P it B BRITRAFE i 2yl gt
(note a) Direct Indirect

GED) B B3

RYITTRERE AL RHR PRC HK$20,000,000 100%  Internet advertising
BRAR (Registered capital) agency services
(Shenzhen Longyou
Shiji Technology
Limited ("Longyou Shiji"))

AmEEtLNRER & 20,000,000 7T (&) - 100% EHMBESRERYE
AE([REBHA )

FII At BE B Rl PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
BRAT (Registered capital)

(Shenzhen Shengshi
Penglong Technology
Limited ("Shengshi
Penglong”))

ANBEREEMRERAE o AR 5,000,000 70 - 100% REER
(TEtt-peRe]) (FHMEX)

FIMEETRRH PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Mobile payment
ARAT (Registered capital) technical
(Shenzhen Xiangjiao support services
Huyu Technology
Limited
("Xiangjiao Huyu"))

AYMEELRMRAR ~ H AR #10,000,0007C - 100% BB Ml s =5 AR
RA(EEER]) (EMEX)

AYMERH AR PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Internet advertising
(Ai Wan Yue) (Registered capital) agency services

AITETHRERAF i AR10,000,000 70 - 100% EHHBESRERY
(Ehbi) (EMEX)

I RRBRERHR PRC HK$40,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
BRAE (Registered capital)

(Dongrun Xindong)

ERREMBBEARAF  + 40,000,000 T (GEEA) - 100% REEMR

(REmE)
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. AHMBEARZIRE (8)

Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest/
registration and Particular of voting rights/profit
Name operation issued share capital sharing Principal activities

SRR EmR BERERR REE/
£ R T B BRITRAHE FEAL %tk 1 TEER
(note a) Direct Indirect

GED) BE B}

It RRBL BRI PRC RMB35,000,000 - 100% Internet advertising
ARAR] (Registered capital) agency services
(Dongrun Hudong)

TRREEHHEARRE  +HE AR¥ 35,000,000 70 - 100% EBBESHERE
(REEH) (FHHEX)

BREEEER T PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Internet advertising
BRRA (Registered capital) agency services
(Nanjing Shengqu Internet
Technology Limited
("Shengqu Internet"))

HRRBBENRAERDA T AR 10,000,000 7T - 100% EM@ESHERS
(TRBAHE ) (FMER)

FEBEBRERIR PRC HK$60,000,000 - 100%  Internet advertising
ARAT (Registered capital) agency services
(Shanghai Million Stars
Network Technology
Limited) (Formerly
known as /88 2 214

% 2|5 R A7) (Shanghai
Million Stars Marketing
Planning Limited
(“Shanghai Million Stars"))
HEEEMRMRERAR P 60,000,0008 ¢ (H & A) - 100% GMBRERIERE
(RifE BB E EHRE
BRAR(EEBEE]))

TMELREER PRC US$50,000,000 - 100% Inactive
BR8] (Taizhou Shihua (Registered capital)
Investment Management
Limited
(“Shihua Investment”))

FNECREEBERDR P 50,000,000 %7t (& 7) - 100% EEEHK
(THHE&E )

140  MILLION STARS HOLDINGS LIMITED » ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. RB AR 2RE (&)
Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest/
registration and Particular of voting rights/profit
Name operation issued share capital sharing Principal activities
SRR RAERER RERE/
a8 Kemewd ERTREFE FE {5 Rt B TEXH
(note a) Direct Indirect
(i a) B A
ERRMBNEERE PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Internet advertising
BRAR] (Registered capital) agency services
(Horgos Sifan)
EARMENEESRBAER & AK¥1,000,0007C - 100% EEBESRERYE
AE(ERRHMBA) (FMEX)
ERRNBRBARGR PRC RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Mobile payment
R BRAE (Registered capital) technical
(Horgos Xiangjiao) support services
ERRIEREA h AR 1,000,000 70 - 100% BB R HERS
EERRARAT (FHEX)
(ERRIMERHA)
ERRGFRALERE PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Internet advertising
ARAT (Registered capital) agency services

(Horgos Dongrun)

ERRNRBEREREER  FE AR 30,000,000 7T - 100% EHBEERERS
AR (ERRITEE) (GEMEAR)
HEmEEBRRE PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Inactive
BRAHE (Registered capital)
(Shanghai Pinliang
Network Technology
Limited)
FEmERARMRARAR  HH AR#50,000,000 7T - 100% EEEHK
(FEEAR)
Million Stars US Inc. USA US$1 (Ordinary share capital) - 100% Internet advertising
agency services
Million Stars US Inc. xH 1570 (BBRA) - 100% EBREERERE
Note: MisE -
(@) The English translation of the name is for identification purpose for (a) RRA BB RN E BT o
PRC company only.
The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which ERFIIHAEEXRE  BEXBREE
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the A ENH B AR -
Group.
As at 30 June 2019, the bank and cash balances of the RZE—NFANA=1TH KEBEUAR
Group's subsidiaries denominated in RMB amounted to MHERRIT RIS & 8R44 16,927,000
approximately HK$16,927,000 (2018: HK$84,067,000) and #T (=T — )\ : 84,067,000557) * I
located in the PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign FHRRARE - AREHBAINEEKBS
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control B B (OINGEE  F (R B ) R (5 E © B R
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and PE S IR 5 F ) PR &l o

Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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21. INVENTORIES 21. B8

2019 AONRSS

—E—-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHER FHET

Raw materials R - 4,988

Work in progress el - 2,367
Finished goods B2IA% T - 1,454

- 8,809

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22, B EWFIE

2019 2018

—g-nE —T-)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FHETT

Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 141,481 231,091
Allowance for doubtful debts RERHEAE (27,973) (4,657)
113,508 226,434
The Group's sales of leather products are based on letters of AEEHEFEFEMNUEARRRNAIE
credit and advances before delivery. The Group’s trading NOAREE - ASEEAMEF 2B S
terms with other customers are mainly on credit. The Group BHAEERE - ASE—RETHGRE
generally allows an average credit period from 0 to 60 days HEREAEXBEFNTOR0KR(ZF
(2018: from 7 to 180 days) for its internet advertising agency —N\F :72180R) M FHEERRET
business customers and 30 days for its mobile payment HAE B SO i 32 45 305 & B 30 R F
technical support business customers. The Group does not HEEH RAEEUERZFERTEE

hold any collateral over these balances. [ o
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on dates on

. B ZBUEIE (80

R AER B HIm 8 5 e MR (kR #

which revenue was recognised, and net of allowance, is as ) ZEREB ST -
follows:

2019 2018
—2-nE —F2)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT BT
Within 30 days 30 RLAR 14,131 66,533
31 to 60 days 31 260K 7,974 64,514
61 to 90 days 61 E£90K 5,166 30,772
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180K 12,831 57,010
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 14,648 7,555
Over 365 days 838365 K 58,758 50
113,508 226,434

As at 30 June 2019, an allowance was made for estimated
irrecoverable trade receivables of approximately

HK$27,973,000 (2018: HK$4,657,000).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

RZZE—-HAEXA=18 stk
B/ E 5 FE W R IE VE 1 B %) 27,973,000
B (ZZ—/)\%F : 4,657,000 7T) °

AREE 2 8 5 RWFRRREETIIA T

SHEHE -

2019 2018

—2-AE —T)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

Tt Tt

us$ e 16,025 25,645
RMB AR 97,483 200,789
113,508 226,434
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23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

23. BE  FEAREBERAEMERKIE

2019 2018

—ZE-h#F —E—N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Deposits b 4,605 1,368
Prepayments BT RIE (@) 96,354 65,423
Loans receivable FEWRE R (b) 49,684 =
Consideration receivable FEIR (B 35(a) 5,000 -
Other receivables Hfh e kI8 6,328 6,663
161,971 73,454

Allowance for doubtful debts REEBME (16,506) -
145,465 73,454

Deposits and other receivables from independent third
parties for whom there are no recent history of default.

Notes:

(a) As at 30 June 2019, prepayments of approximately HK$91,271,000
(2018: HK$62,860,000) have been paid for the cost of services
related to internet advertising agency services.

(b) As at 30 June 2019, included in loans receivable an amount of
approximately HK$225,000 is secured by a motor vehicle of the
borrower bearing interest at 5% per annum and repayable within one
year, and an amount of approximately HK$552,000 is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable within one year; and the remaining
balance of approximately HK$48,907,000 is unsecured, bearing
interest at rates ranged from 4.43% to 5% per annum and repayable
within one year. Loans receivable of HK$46,626,000 have been
settled subsequently.
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24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES AND PLEDGED

24. ROTRBAESHHRREEFRITER

BANK DEPOSITS
2019 2018
—ZE-h#F —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Cash and cash equivalents e RIBESZEEY 23,469 114,485
Less: Pledged deposits B ARESIRITRLE 2
for banking facilities [SEE TN (3,905) (1,050)
Bank and cash balances RIT RIS 45 19,564 113,435

Bank and cash balances are denominated in the following
currencies:

RITNBESEHRTIUATIIEEEHE -

2019 PAONES]

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Canadian dollars MEKRTT 124 124
Us$ ETT 1,955 23,514
HK$ BT 508 4,914
RMB AR 16,977 84,076
Australian dollars BT - 26
Euro BT - 781
19,564 113,435

As at 30 June 2019, the bank and cash balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$16,927,000 (2018: HK$84,067,000) and located in the
PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a bank
to secure bank facilities granted to the Group. The pledged
bank deposits carry fixed interest rate of 0.45% (2018:
0.125%) per annum. Bank balances earn interests at floating
rate based on daily bank deposit rates and is placed with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. As at
30 June 2019 and 2018, all pledged bank deposits were
denominated in US$.

NRZEBE—HERNA=TH XEBUAE
ESHEMIRTT RIS 845 16,927,000
BT (ZF—)\F : 84,067,000/67T) * I
TFHRFE - ARESBAEINREEKER
o B CONE B IR R ) R KAEBE - S EE R AT
FEEIBITE ) AR H o

BRBRITERBIERARRERITHREZ
BRYPAEBZERBER - DRPRITE
HKIRETEFNE045% (=T — N\ &F:
0.125%) 5t B -~ SRITERIBEZSHBTE
R R 3 Z B R BREF 8 - WAF S
B RiT B A BE O EERRTT - R=F
—NER-_E—NFEA=1+H " FEE
HIRERITIFRAFTTEHE ©
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25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. ESENRIE
2019 PAONES]
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Trade payables B SRR 38,403 79,651
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, REAEZ NS FIENZEZRR S TI0
is as follows: T
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T AT
Within 30 days 30 KA 9,001 38,224
31 to 60 days 31260K 1,457 25,171
61 to 90 days 61E90K 1,326 3,392
Over 90 days im0k 26,619 12,864
38,403 79,651
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are AEBZESEMNFIENERERENUNTIE
denominated in the following currencies: WE=HH
2019 PAONES]
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&TT
RMB AR 38,403 76,223
HK$ BT - 3,428
38,403 79,651
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26. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND TRADE 26. EstER HWESREREKE

DEPOSITS RECEIVED Z2EE
2019 AONRSS
—EB-hF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FABT
Accruals JEETE R 2,739 6,714
Other payables HAbFETFIE 3,612 8,962
Trade deposits received (note 27) BB ke (MiE27) - 8,192
6,351 23,868
27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (AT 30 JUNE 2018: 27. N EBE(R=BE—N\EXA=T
TRADE DEPOSITS RECEIVED) H:BKREZEZES)

30 June 1 July 30 June
Contract liabilities 2019 2018 2018
BHEE —E-hE —ZT-N\F —T—N\F

ANA=t+H +A—HB XA=TH
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
T TATT TATT

Billings in advance of performance  J&ULJE 4 BE X

obligation &5
— Internet advertising agency — EMEEENRE
services AR 7 9,963 8,192 =
Contract liabilities (at 30 June 2018: trade deposits received) eHBaERE—N\FRA=Z+HE: B
represent service income received from customers in WE SR ERAEE ERAES IR
connection with the Group’s internet advertising agency R7E 8 2 UEH) IRFS U A ©
services.
No right of refund is noted from the Group’s contract with HEZT-NWEFERZTE-NEFRA=T
customers as at 30 June 2019 and 2018. All contract B AEEEZFHNE I ERKET -
liabilities (at 30 June 2018: trade deposits received) are non- EAHEEMRZE—N\FA=1TH:
interest bearing. ERESER)HRRE -
There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities WMERARNELBEEBRBEITEBRZEEZL -

balances during the reporting period.
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (AT 30 JUNE 2018: 27. EHNEEBER=-Z-NEXRA=T
TRADE DEPOSITS RECEIVED) (continued) H:BWEZES) @
Movements in contract liabilities: BEHBEEEE)
HK$'000
FET
Balance at 30 June 2018 RZZE—N\FA=+HZ&# —
Reclassification of receipts in advance BB BHREERE 1551%
upon adoption of HKFRS 15 TBWHIBERR DA 8,192
Balance at 1 July 2018 RZZE-N\FEA—RBZ&R 8,192
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result FAERIAFTER K
of recognising revenue during the year SREERDET AR
was included in the contract liabilities aEHaE
at the beginning of the period (8,192)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result [ 5 B A R 5 IR RS TR UL
of billing in advance of internet advertising BERMERR
agency services SHEEEM 9,963
Balance at 30 June 2019 RZZE-NFAAA=+HZ&#H 9,963
No billings in advance of performance received that is B e WiEW B AR TEEINBIA —F 1%
expected to be recognised as income after more than one = N
year.
28. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER 28. Ef—BREME
Amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free and FER— R IR RIEEIE - B RAER
repayable on demand. EREE -
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29. BORROWINGS 2. f6&
2019 AONRSS
—EB-hF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Bank loans — secured RITER — BEF (a) 8,122 =
Other borrowings — unsecured ~ Hfhf& & — MK (b) 6,570 -
14,692 -
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEZEFHNT
2018
—E-hEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FATT
Within one year —FR 14,522 -
More than one year, but not BB —F BT EBMRF
exceeding two years 170 -
14,692 -
Less: Amount due for settlement & : 1218 AR Z|HIEE ~
within 12 months (shown SR (NREBEE NR)
under current liabilities) 14,522 -
Amount due for settlement 1218 H1& I BRE (B« & 58
after 12 months 170 -
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29.

150

BORROWINGS (continued) 29.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

B & (&)
AEEBENREENATIERE

uUs$ HK$ RMB Total
EY BT AR 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TExT FET
Bank loans — secured RITER — HEME
(note (a)) (MI5E @) 7,809 - 313 8,122
Other borrowings HahfEE — K
— unsecured (note (b)) (B #E (b)) — 6,400 170 6,570
7,809 6,400 483 14,692
us$ HK$ RMB Total
ETT BT AR AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAETT FABTT BT AT
Bank loans IRITEK = — _ _
Other borrowings HiEE = - - -

The average interest rates at 30 June were as follows:

Bank loans — secured RITER — HHEA
Other borrowings — unsecured  HhEE — EEIF

Bank loans of approximately HK$7,809,000 are arranged at
floating rate, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.

Bank loans of approximately HK$313,000 and other
borrowings of approximately HK$5,000,000 are arranged at
fixed interest rates and expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.
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29. BORROWINGS (continued)

30.

Notes:

(a)

As at 30 June 2019, bank loans of approximately HK$7,809,000 is
secured by a charge over the pledged bank deposits amounted to
approximately HK$3,905,000 (note 24), bearing an interest at LIBOR
+ 3% and repayable within 1 year. Corporate guarantee by the
Company is executed on the bank loans. Bank loans of approximately
HK$313,000 is secured by personal guarantee of a director of a
subsidiary, bearing an interest at 11.34% per annum and repayable
on demand.

As at 30 June 2019, all other borrowings due to third parties are
unsecured, of which approximately HK$5,000,000 is bearing an
interest at 3% per annum and repayable within 1 year, approximately
HK$1,400,000 is interest-free and repayable within 1 year and
approximately HK$170,000 is interest-free and repayable on 31
December 2020.

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

Minimum lease payments

20. EE (&)

ByeE -

(a)

(b)

RZZE—NFEXA=1+H " BH 47,809,000
T 2 $R1TE FA# 3,905,000 7 7T B KRR
TERZEL AR (MIE24) - RBHIRTT
REFREMI%TERBR—FREE - AR
AIARITERE N ARIER - BEH#313,000
BLZBTERH—BHBRARZ —REEZ
EABREER  REFE11.34%FERE
REREE -

RZE-NFRA=+R BRE=JTZME
Hip & REEM - Ed495,000,000/8 T

FREI%FERER—FANEE D
1,400,000 B TARERER—FANEE &k

#9170,0008 T AR BERBEN T _TF+ =
BA=+—BEE-

30. ENBMEHERE

Present value of
minimum lease payments

REAEMR REAENRZEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
“EBE-hE —T-)\F ZEBE-hE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
THERT TAT THET FAT
Within one year —FR - 199 - 175
In the second to fifth years, F_FRERE
inclusive (BIEEREME) - 347 - 331
- 546 - 506
Less: Future finance charges W R REEE R - (40) - -
Present value of lease obligations & &7 I (E - 506 - 506
Less: Amount due for settlement & : 12 8 B R E| 85 &
within 12 months (shown ZE&B(NRE
under current liabilities) BEEBTR) - (175)
Amount due for settlement 12@ARBEIEHEEZ
after 12 months o] - 331
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151



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZT—NFA=THILFE

30. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES (continued)

31.

152

It is the Group's policy to lease a motor vehicle under finance
lease. The lease term is 3 years. At 30 June 2018, the
average effective borrowing rate was 5.47%. Interest rate is
fixed at the contract date and thus exposes the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The lease is on a fixed repayment
basis and no arrangements have been entered into for
contingent rental payments.

The finance lease payables are denominated in RMB.

DEFERRED TAX

The following are the deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised by the Group.

30.

31.

Decelerated
depreciation

FEA B E A & ROR (80

AEBHNBRDREREHENETE -
HHA=F R-T—N\FXA=+H"
FHEREENERS.47% - FIXTIRE
HWEMEE At AKERERAFERNER
[k - HELTERERELERL - HAE
LA E (T RET LA B

ENREHERAUAREE -
ELEB IR
AN RASEER EERARBREE

Accelerated
depreciation

allowances allowances
BETERE EITERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TATT FABTT
At 1 July 2017 RZZE—tF+H—H 19 (32) (13)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss X (k&) 5+ ABzs
for the year (1) 9 8
At 30 June 2018 and RZFE—-N\FRA=TH
1July 2018 R-—Z—\FtA—H 18 (23) (5)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss  F R (), FFAEBZE
for the year (15) 18 3
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKB AR
(note 35(a)) (Fft5E35(a)) 3) 5 2
At 30 June 2019 RZE—NFA=+H - - -

The above deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset
for presentation purpose in the consolidated statement of
financial position for same tax jurisdiction.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses of approximately HK$42,454,000 (2018:
HK$21,190,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$42,454,000 (2018: HK$21,190,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$2,000 (2018: HK$2,263,000), HK$18,771,000 (2018:
HK$18,927,000) and HK$23,681,000 (2018: HK$Nil) will
expire in 2022, 2023 and 2024 respectively.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BA&
Number of
shares Amount
gvip - ¢E| Kot
‘000 HK$'000
T FAET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R-_ZB—tFtH—RH"
at 1 July 2017, 30 June 2018, —E-N\FRA=F+H"
1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 —E-\FtA-HK
—E-NEFEAA=TH
BREEO.01 BT EBER 4,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R—ZE—tFtA—A8 "
at 1 July 2017, 30 June 2018, —E-\FXRA=1+H"
1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019 “E-\F+tA—BX
—ET-hEFEAA=TH
HRmEECEB T EBR 400,000 4,000
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to REBEAETE B2 AERAEREE
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern BEgE e WEREBLEERER
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the - AR EAIRES AL o

optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
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32.

154

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises of amount
due to a shareholder, borrowings and finance lease payables.
Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity (i.e.
share capital, share premium, retained profits and other
reserves).

During 2019, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged
from 2018, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio as low as feasible. In order to maintain or adjust the
ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.

As at 30 June 2019, the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio of the
Group is 7% (2018: 23%,).

The decrease in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during
2019 resulted primarily from decrease of amount due to a
shareholder and finance lease payables.

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is
in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars
monthly on substantial share interests showing the non-
public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with
the 25% limit throughout the year.
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

33.

RRFMBRRAREHEREE

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company AQ BRI EK
2019 2018
—ZE-h#F —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB RERE 70 388
Investments in subsidiaries REB AT Z’E 1 2
71 390
Current assets REEE
Deposits, prepayments and ®’e - BRRER
other receivables Hh U GRIB 5,334 99
Amounts due from subsidiaries U B A T I 66,143 128,096
Bank and cash balances RIT RIS MR 70 812
71,547 129,007
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals et E 1,774 1,442
Amount due to a shareholder e — R BR KA 247 58,559
Amount due to subsidiaries ANERIENGIE 53,574 18,750
55,595 78,751
Net current assets REBEETFE 15,952 50,256
NET ASSETS BEFHE 16,023 50,646
Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital RN 4,000 4,000
Reserves HE 12,023 46,646
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 16,023 50,646

ERESER _ZT—AFAA-THAH
EXHTIEERRES

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 September
2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

ZHU Yongjun TIAN Yuan
KEE H
Director Director
EF EF
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

33. QA BEMRRREFEES (H)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

(b) AQTEFEEE

156

Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B4R E Hibf#E eS| Fohy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FHBT FHT
At 1 July 2017 RZZE—t&+HA—H 39,782 19,570 (23,829) 35,523
Profit for the year FERRF - - 11,123 11,123
At 30 June 2018 RZE—N\EXA=1H 39,782 19,570 (12,706) 46,646
Adjustment on initial BRERBBUBRE
application of HKFRS 9 RRIFE ORI 2 R
— loss allowance for — ERHBRF
amounts due from R EERE
subsidiaries - - (874) (874)
Restated balance at RZZ2—-N\&EtH—H
1 July 2018 FOERTIEET S 39,782 19,570 (13,580) 45,772
Loss for the year FRER - - (33,749) (33,749)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWE LR - (19,570) 19,570 -
At 30 June 2019 R-ZE-NEXA=1H 39,782 - (27,759) 12,023

Note: Other reserve represents the different between the fair value
of the shares of Perline Company Limited acquired pursuant to
the reorganisation for listing in 2015 over the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company administers a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which was adopted on 28 January 2015
by a shareholders’ written resolution. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected participants as incentives and rewards for
their contribution to the Group. It became effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the date on which the
Share Option Scheme was adopted. Eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme include employees, directors,
suppliers, customers, shareholders, advisers or consultants,
research, development or other technological support
personnel or entities of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest and other selected participants (the
“Eligible Participants”).

The total number of shares which may be issued and allotted
upon the exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 shares, representing
10% of the total number of issued shares as at the date of
this annual report.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time. The total number of the shares
which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all
options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the date of listing,
subject to refreshment of such limit as approved by
shareholders.

4. BIRRESTE

ARRAT-BARBEREMRZERN =
T—hF— A +/\BERAZBERE S
(BRI E]) - BREFEEESAE
BEERQBELBERLBRE - (R
ERAKEMEEREE R ER) - B8
BT EERMNE B E0FHEA
Mo BT B2 A BER2EEREAR
A~ HM B AR AEEERKE QR
BERECENER((RIREER]) ZE
S B H#tER TP KRR BERE%
AN BRI - RS E AR S
ZANERERUREMEFE2EE ((FE
RBEE]) o

oy

=11

KA R BB AERT 81 b 2 B AR T
FEEHAEERTREZRZIROEER
40,000,000 % » (AR A3 B HIE 31T
MAREHI10% °

PRRE R At 8 S AN SR B PR A 2 (E R EL A
RIEFEIET 2 2HERBERARITEZ
BREETERAEETIRDERRS
TEBBARBTREHITRALZ 30% °
AR IR BB AR A T &) R AN SR B LR E A BB A
BEtEI R 2 2 BB RE (LS T
BIRAR IR B AR AT B N A & [ () AL A
P iE st 8 Z (R RE KRB 2 BB A ) 1T
R AT REBC 3 R B 1T 2 IR M B A A5
BN Em R ETRDZ10% @ HZ L
PR 2 BB HT /AR R AL ©
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34.

158

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options)
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by the shareholders in general
meeting. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director or any
of their respective close associates would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant: (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue;
and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares at the date of each offer for the grant, in
excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must
be approved by shareholders in general meeting.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors may, at their
discretion, grant to any Eligible Participants options to
subscribe for shares at an subscription price per share being
not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for
trade in one or more board lots of the shares on the date of
the offer for the grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer for the grant of option. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the directors to each grantee, which period
may commence from the date of the offer for the grant of
options is made, but shall end in any event not later than 10
years from the date of grant of the option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise
determined by the directors and stated in the offer for the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of
an option before it can be exercised.

During the period from the effective date of the Share

Option Scheme to 30 June 2019, no share option has been
granted, expired, lapsed, exercised or cancelled.
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
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35. MABERERWHE

OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Disposal of Odella (a) HEOdella

On 18 February 2019, the Group disposed of its entire
equity interests in Odella for a consideration of
HK$10,000,000.

i

R-—ZE—h&E=-A+/\B  &&
LA £ /10,000,000 7T H & H 7
Odella Z 2 ZFASHE -

/7

RHEBRH  BEFENT :

HK$'000
TATT

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment M - B KEE 522
Trade receivables 2 5 W IR 2,654
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables %% + B ZRIE N H b g Uk 3008 522
Inventories EASY 4,384
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE LR 11,274
Trade payables 2 5 IR (1,781)
Accruals and other payables FEETE A & H At FE T 5I8 (8,792)
Current tax liabilities EHMIEER (848)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEBIEAE (2)
Net assets disposed of EHEEESE 7,933
Release of exchange reserve FRRRIE H R (257)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 15) HE—EEB ARz e ([HFE15) 2,324
Total consideration AR 10,000
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESHEAZHEFRE ¢
Cash consideration received ERIRERE 5,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERELEESZEY (11,274)
(6,274)

As at 30 June 2019, consideration of HK$5,000,000
has been received from the purchaser of Odella. The
balance of consideration of HK$5,000,000 has been
recognised as a consideration receivable at 30 June
2019 (note 23).

Hz-_Z—NAFX<A=+H ' BEH
Odella & 7 U B X {&5,000,000%
7T o R {B#4%E 5,000,000 TE R =
TE-NENA=ZTEHBERBERKR
B(MzE23) °
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. S4B 4 HAE XM @)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Disposal of Dragon Gate Global Co., Ltd (b) £ Dragon Gate Global Co., Ltd
On 28 September 2017, the Group disposed of its RZZBE—+FENLA=-+NB ' K&
entire equity interests in Dragon Gate Global Co., Ltd. A B 1% 7T i & H 5 Dragon
for a consideration of US$1. Gate Global Co., Ltd. 2 2 ZF X ©
Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows: RSB - AEFEOT

HK$'000

FHET

Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRB 51
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TARTERIE « R & K& E fh FE WOk IR 669
Bank and cash balances RITRIRE LR 332
Accruals and other payables FEETE A & H At FE T 508 (1,147)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEaEFE (89)
Release of exchange reserve FRBRIE H A 6
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 8) HE—ENEB ARz e (HEES) 83
Total consideration BRAE -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESHEAZHEEFRE ¢
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERERESEEYD 332
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 BZE_ZT—AFNA=+HILFE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c)

Disposal of New Sports Technology Holdings
Limited

On 2 January 2018, the Group disposed of its entire

share capital in New Sports Technology Holdings
Limited for a consideration of HK$1.

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

35. MERLSHRERMZE @)

(c) HENew Sports Technology
Holdings Limited

RZZE—N\F—A=H ' A&£BEI
K E1E T H & H R New Sports
Technology Holdings Limited 2 2 #f
PR o

RHEBH  BEFHENT

HK$'000
TATT

Bank and cash balances RITRIRE LR 274
Accruals and other payables FEET & A & H At FE T 5038 (300)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAaERE (26)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 8) HE—ENEB ARz e (HEES) 26
Total consideration BRE =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFHEEAZHEEFRE ¢
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHEReRESSEYD 274
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. S4B 4hE XM @)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(d) Acquisition of Dongrun Hudong (d) WERBEH

On 5 September 2017, the Group acquired the entire N-_ZE—+FNLARH KEEHI
equity capital of Dongrun Hudong for a cash R REARM 2,000,000 T4 R
consideration of RMB2,000,000. Dongrun Hudong is BHESH22HRA - REEHEE
principally engaged in provision of internet advertising NERHOTBERERERS - Z
agency services. The acquisition aims to further develop WESEEHEE—FPERLRERA
and expand the business scope of the Group, and take SEXBEHE WERERIBHHE
into account the potentials of the development of BEMREBER BT -

internet advertising agency business.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUKWEERE  FTERBEESE 2 A
Dongrun Hudong acquired as at its date of acquisition HBRIEENBENAFENT
is as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRB 803
Trade receivables 2 5 W IR 17,696
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables %% -+ B 3RIE & H b e Y 5008 31,621
Bank and cash balances RITRIRES LR 4,478
Trade payables B 5 IR (22,048)
Other payables H b &< 508 (32,707)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities ABEREERBEEE (157)
Goodwill RS 2,521
Total consideration HRE 2,364
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WIEEEEA ZRESFRA
Cash consideration paid ENBReRE (2,364)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired EUEREeRESEED 4,478
2,114
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

35. LKERERERMTE)

(d) Acquisition of Dongrun Hudong (continued)

(d) WBEREED(E)

The fair value of the trade and other receivables
acquired is approximately HK$26,692,000 as at its date
of acquisition, none of which is expected to be
uncollectible.

Dongrun Hudong contributed revenue of
approximately HK$323,552,000 and profit of
approximately HK$126,646,000 to the Group for the
year between the date of acquisition and 30 June
2018.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 July 2017,
total Group's revenue for the year would have been
approximately HK$617,108,000, and profit for the
year 2018 would have been approximately
HK$181,843,000. The proforma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of the turnover and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2017, nor is
intended to be a projection of future results.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Dongrun
Hudong is attributable to the anticipated profitability
of internet advertising agency services and the
anticipated future operating synergies from
combination.

BWEE S REMEYRHIAL AT
B E i B 8149 /5 26,692,000 7%
7T FAHASE AR M o

BERBEHE_ZE—N\FEXA=T
BIEEE REESHAAEESE
I A #7323,552,00078 7T M 3% F 49
126,646,000 7 7T °

WKEEER T —+tF A —H
T IASEEAFERABRERE
#5617,108,000 8 T Kk —FE— N\F
SR A FE 45 181,843,000 7T ° 15
EEMEEGHBRR  ABRTRZ
WBEER _Z—+FLtA—H=
X 1% 7N 55 B E R A] QEEEEE’J -
Mg &G AT RERKRES
RITER o

WERBEDELZHEKRE B
BEERIERE 2 AMAN ALY
B HHE R R AR = 13 [R) AR FE o
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

—NERA=THLEFE

35. MERLSHRERMZT (@)

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(f)

164

(e) Acquisition of non-controlling interests in (e) WEEMREHMBAZFEHER
Horgos Sifan
On 4 December 2017, the Group acquired 49% non- R-_ZE—+FE+_AMWAH KEH

BUI 4 B A RN 1 ol B R A
B, 49% LR BB - B AR AT

controlling interests in Horgos Sifan at a cash
consideration of RMB1. The 49% non-controlling
interests in Horgos Sifan was acquired from a director BRNZA49% EITGIHEZTTEERRE
of Horgos Sifan, the acquisition is considered as a BN zESWE  WESEEHEA
related party transaction. The effect of the acquisition RIEBABAIRS  ZWESEY
on the equity attributable to the owners of the RNANTIHRE NE(SERS ZEENT -
Company is as follows:

HK$'000
TATT

P SR il 2t 2 BRI (B

Carrying amount of non-controlling

interests acquired 2,667
Consideration paid for non-controlling interests & < FE#Z #2572 (B -
Gain arising from acquisition recognised HERNERERZ WEEE

directly in equity B4zl 2,667

Acquisition of non-controlling interests in
Horgos Xiangjiao

(H WEERMRGERZFEHER

On 15 November 2017, the Group acquired 49% non-
controlling interests in Horgos Xiangjiao at a cash
consideration of RMB1. The 49% non-controlling
interests in Horgos Xiangjiao was acquired from a
director of Horgos Xiangjiao, the acquisition is
considered as a related party transaction. The effect of WAE—BEEBAIT S ZkEER
the acquisition on the equity attributable to the owners HARNTHEA AE(GEZS Z 2210
of the Company is as follows: T

HK$°000
TATT

P iR IR il ot 2 BRTEI (B

R-F—tH+—A+HB X&
BURESREARE 1 TWEERR
HTEREZ49% FF1E s - EMR
HBERZ49%IFFETIER B ER
REBRZEFTWE  WESHERK

Carrying amount of non-controlling

interests acquired 2,458
Consideration paid for non-controlling interests 24 JE#ZE bl iz 2 (L E -
Gain arising from acquisition recognised EERAERER KB EE

directly in equity B2 e 2,458
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For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE-ZT—hFENA=+tHIFE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT . BERERERNT @)

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(g) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (9) RETBHELZEE/HE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s T%E$L$’ilﬁﬂﬁ}é§b)2$2@
liabilities arising from financing activities, including EEE) BIEIRENIFREE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising BB EEES CABED )%E,Ebi,,mg
from financing activities are those for which cash flows HAKBEREBTNAER ZFE
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the HWEREeaErRNPEARMETEES
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash ZEenEZBE

flows from financing activities.

Interest
Non-cash expenses/
changes — finance
interest lease Exchange 30 June
1July 2018 Cash flows expenses  charges difference 2019

¥me A8

—2-)\f 2H— Mx/ HE —%-1f
tE-B BeNE ASMX MAMX EXEE AA=tA
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000

FEL TR TR FAn  TEn TR

Amount due to FER—BRRTR
ashareholder (note 28)  ([ffs28) 58,559 (58,312) = = = 247
Borrowings (note 29) B8 (fE29) - 14,277 (173) 593 (59 14,692
Finance leases payables  [EfS R B EZT
(note 30) (Pi5E30) 506 (557) - 33 18 -
59,065 (44,592) (173) 626 13 14,939
Non-cash Finance
changes — lease  Exchange 30 June
1July2017 Cashflows  additions charges  difference 2018
3Ffﬁfi>
S 3 BE —T-N\#F
tA—B H&nRE AE HERX EXRE®E ~AA=TH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT THT
Amount due to JEN— 2R R
ashareholder (note 28)  (Pff3£28) = 58,559 S = - 58,559
Finance leases payables  JEfTRIATR EFUE
(note 30) (Bi+5E30) 1 (51) 558 7 8) 506

= 58,508 558 7 8) 59,065
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36.

37.

38.

166

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At 30 June 2019 the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as
follows:

36.

RERERE

RZZE—NFARNA=TH  RETAHEH
REHH 2 RRSEEENKERRNT

2019 2018

—g-haE T )\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Within one year —F R 4,959 3,092
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEERF(PHEERRE) 1,320 144
6,279 3,236

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its premises. Leases are negotiated at
terms ranged from one to three years (2018: one to three
years) and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not
include contingent rentals.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 30
June 2019 (2018: HK$Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following transactions with its related
parties during the year:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management during the period was as
follows:

37.

38.

REHENFEAKERES TYREN
MEE  HOUNF—2=F(ZF—-N\
FroR2=oF)NEEETER  HEA
HerBEEEE T TERIAES

HAEE

R_ZE-NFRA=+H AKEVES
AREIARBBE(ZZE-NF: THET) -

BEAIRS

BIRE M BHREREMBLOBEE BB AR
PRI - NEEF R H T2
REWT

FTEEEBEAEZHM

RAHRE  RAREERHEM IR ERE
B ZF BT

2019 2018

—E-hE —E—N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Salaries and other benefits e kEmEF 4,702 6,387
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIME R 281 148
4,983 6,535
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40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HZE-ZT—NFA=-+tHILFE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of 35% equity interests in Shenzhen
Yidao Network Co., Ltd. (“Yidao Network”)

On 30 August 2019, Dongrun Hudong, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a capital
increase and subscription agreement, pursuant to which
Dongrun Hudong has agreed to acquire 35% of equity
interests in and all the assets of Yidao Network at a total
consideration of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$55,000,000).

Further details of the acquisition of 35% equity interest of
Yidao Network and related capital contribution to Yidao
Network are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 30 August 2019.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 25 September 2019.

39.

40.

“E-NEFERE .

BREPREE

BWERYZEAEERLOA(EES
4% 1) 35% IR

RZE—NFNA=+H KAFEES
BB RARIRBEESI L IEE RRER
FB REEHRENAREARE
50,000,000 7T ( 48 & #2 55,000,000 7t )
U B 22 B 4848 35% IRHE R PR B B EE -

B B W B SR B AR 4 35% AU J% (A 7 E A
MR ENE— T HE  FREALQF
BEMAR—Z—NENA=TEHNRMH -

HERESMB®RE

HEMBRRER-_ZT-NAFNAA=-TH
AEESSHERRETE -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEBEBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for each of the five years ended 30 June 2015, 2016, 2017,
2018 and 2019, as extracted from the annual reports for the years
ended 30 June 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019, is set out
below:

REEBHE-_Z—FF  —_T—XKF -5
—+E . Z_FE-N\ERZE-NAEA=1H
A RFERFr ¥EREERGBERE(R
REgEEEE—_E—hE —ZT—XRF- - _Z
—F  ZE-N\FRZE-NEXNA=1H
IEFEZFFR)HHWOT -

Year ended 30 June
BEANA=THLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015

—F-\F ZF+tF —FF —FT-0%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THET THET THT THT

2019
= i
HK$’'000
T
Results E
Revenue ION 270,729

526,341 62,189 55,847 81,947

Net profit/(loss) for the year AEZHFCFER)

(before listing expenses) (NEtEmRAX) (36,606) 204,580 (2,760) 3,827 18,538
Listing expenses Iil=53 = = = = (18,422)
Net profit/(loss) for the year ARAGEEABIGRER

attributable to owners of #FlCEEE)

the Company (36,606) 199,455 (2,760) 3,827 116

As at 30 June

RAB=1+H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE —T-)\F —T—+F —T—RF —T—HF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FHBT FET FET FHT

Assets and liabilities EERERE

Total assets BERAE 288,651 431,607 75,903 69,766 71,908
Total liabilities aBEmE (78,786)  (170,430) (16,310) (7,894) (13,955)
Total equity Bmia 209,865 261,177 59,593 61,872 57,953
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